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CORPORATE POLICY
VISION
“To be the most preferred independent thrift bank in Metro Cebu, offering personalized service to the
clients.”

MISSION
“To provide personalized “VIP Treatment/Service” to all clients, while maximizing shareholders’ value;
To provide growth in work and in economic status for its employees.”

COMPANY PROFILE
The Organization and Its Expansion

Management Team

The TALISAY PUBLIC SAVINGS AND LOAN ASSOCIATION officially
started operations on February 6, 1980, under a conservative Board of
Directors. Having achieved a net earnings of P1.14 million by 1986, the
Board considered the expansion of the Bank’s reach and operations.

The Board of Directors is composed of individuals who excelled in their chosen fields.
Board Chairperson is Retired Justice Isaias P. Dicdican, who earned respect of
colleagues in the judiciary and the community. RJ Dicdican joined the Bank in 2017
setting a strategic direction and objectives where to lead the Bank. Another
prominent member of the Board is Atty. Merle P. Cunanan, a retired Securities and
Exchange Commission Director who heads the Bank’s Risk and Audit Committees.
Former Board Chairman Mr. Jose Luis U. Yulo, Jr. is a well-respected businessman
and industry leader, not only in the country, but also in the region – the ASEAN.
Another member is Mr. Johnie C. Lim, who achieved success in the wellness
industry, and Mr. Ruel Z. Romarate, a retired senior executive of the biggest
government bank in the Philippines and an educator.

TALISAY PUBLIC SAVINGS AND LOAN ASSOCIATION initiated with other
lending institution and on April 22, 1986, a Certificate of Authority and
the Articles of Merger of the TALISAY PUBLIC SAVINGS AND LOAN
ASSOCIATION, INC., RURAL BANK OF MACTAN and RURAL BANK OF
CORDOVA were issued by the Bangko Sentral ng Pilipinas with TALISAY
PUBLIC SAVINGS AND LOAN ASSOCIATION as the surviving financial
institution, at the same time increasing its authorized capitalization of
P25 million.
On March 14, 1987, the bank amended its charter and changed its
name to METRO CEBU PUBLIC SAVINGS BANK.
METRO CEBU PUBLIC SAVINGS BANK maintained its Head Office at
Tabunok, Talisay City, a branch at Lapu-Lapu City and, in 1991, a new
branch at N. Bacalso Avenue, Cebu City – a banking network
strategically placed in three (3) cities.

Location
Metro Cebu Public Savings Bank Head Office is located at the 2 nd floor
of Sia Building in N. Bacalso Ave., Cebu City; with three branches
strategically situated in N. Bacalso Avenue for its Cebu City Branch, in
Tabunok Public Market for Talisay City Branch, and in Lapu-Lapu City
Public Market for Mactan Branch.

The Senior Management is headed by Mr. Romarate as President and Chief
Executive Officer. He is ably supported by Engr. Alex S. Rojas as Executive Vice
President and Chief Operations Officer, and a competent and dedicated team of
Chief Compliance Officer, Acting Internal Auditor, Accounting and IT Heads and
three (3) Branch Managers.
History
Metro Cebu Public Savings Bank was established in 1979 as Talisay Public Savings
and Loan Association (TPSLA), Inc.; it started operations on February 6, 1980. On
April 22, 1986, TPSLA merged with Rural Bank of Mactan and Rural Bank of Cordova
with TPSLA as the surviving institution.
On March 14, 1987, the Bank amended its charter and changed its name to Metro
Cebu Public Savings Bank, with head office at Gee Ann Square, Tabunok, Talisay City.
In September 2015, Metro Cebu Public Savings Bank transferred its head office to its
present address at 2nd Floor, Sia Bldg., N. Bacalso Ave., Brgy. Duljo Fatima, Cebu City.
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A MESSAGE FROM THE
CHAIRMAN
Greetings,
As what the writer Doe Zantamanta said, it is only in our darkest hour that we may discover the true strength of
the brilliant light within ourselves that can never, ever, be dimmed. As a matter of parallelism, this is what I can say
of the experience we had of the Metro Cebu Public Savings Bank during its last fiscal year. There is no doubt that
the whole world went through a financial crisis like no other as a consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic.
Economic activity had almost come to a standstill. Many banks and businesses had ceased operations. Many
employees lost their jobs.
Of course the operation of our bank has been adversely affected. Banking hours were shortened and our
profitability has been hampered. However, by the grace of God and by the virtue of strength, tenacity and resilience
of our bank, its stockholders, owners, officers, managers and employees, we have pliantly weathered the crisis or
storm plaguing us and withstood the test of time. Our bank has managed to keep itself as a going concern. It has
not ceased its operations. It has let all its employees keep their jobs during the lockdown. It has strived to
tenaciously discharge its sense of social responsibility to its employees. It has overcome the odds against it. As
our bank has already existed for 41 years now, as we just celebrated its 41 st anniversary on February 6 of this
year, I will venture to say that our bank is veritably a bank for all seasons. I am proud and happy that Metro Cebu
Public Savings Bank has managed to be around in this country and place through all the vicissitudes of time since
1980. I hope and pray that, in the years to come, it can continue to keep up its strength, tenacity and resilience.
Hope for us is important because it can make the present moment less difficult to bear. If we believe that tomorrow
will be better, we can bear any hardship today. After all, tough times never last, but tough people, like what we are
having now in our bank, do.
Long live our bank! Mabuhay! May God bless us all.

Isaias P. Dicdican
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A MESSAGE FROM OUR
PRESIDENT & CEO
Dear Stakeholders:
Allow me to thank our Stockholders for their unwavering support, the members of the Board for their generosity in
sharing their time and expertise, and the Officers and Staff of Metro Cebu Public Savings Bank who braved the
unseen enemy to be in the office just to serve our clients. Thank you all very much.
The Global Health Emergency caused by the COVID-19 pandemic has disrupted the way of life of people all over
the world, across all sectors and ushered in a new way of doing business, banking included. The crises has exposed
the Bank’s vulnerabilities – the tight capital position and the limited traditional banking products.
The prolonged lockdown has affected the supply chain of goods and services, thus businesses suffered, jobs and
livelihood were lost. The Bank experienced huge reduction in revenues and delayed repayment of loans. This has
impacted on our limited capital position as additional provisioning would be required.
Owing to its tight capita, which at present is barely compliant to the minimum requirement puts the bank in the path
of operational liquidity risks. There is a need for the Bank to look for new funds thru additional fresh equity,
borrowings and maybe to go thru IPO. The Bank needs more capital to sustain its growth and profitable operations.
The need for the bank to pursue digitization has been heightened by the pandemic. It had set forth the
unprecedented shifts in daily schedules, doing business and work setup. Observing health protocols pushed the
client to shift to online services. This means that the Bank has to embrace digitization in order to stay relevant and
ensure its survival. The new infrastructure would require huge capex.
Another hurdle that the Bank has to overcome is to be allowed to offer new products due to its PCA status. Lifting
of the PCA status may, hopefully soon be achieved due to the satisfactory compliance to all the audit findings. The
only remaining task to comply is the resubmission and approval of the amended Articles of Incorporation which
seeks to increase the Bank’s capital from Php 100m to Php 400m.
The pandemic has shaved off the Bank’s income by Php 14.158 million or
32% lower than its 2019 performance. The hope to early economic recovery
hinges largely on the government handling of the crisis. The stakeholders
need to address the Bank’s regulatory issues, especially immediate infusion
of Php 12.683 million additional capital required during the last BSP ROE as
of June 30, 2019, to be able to weather the challenges ahead, and come out
stronger and bigger.

Ruel Z. Romarate
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RESULT OF 2020 OPERATIONS
Table 1: COMPARATIVE PERFORMANCE [PM]
Particulars

2020

Income Accounts
Interest Income
Non-Interest Income
Total Income
Expense Accounts
Interest Expense
Compensation
Other Expenses
Admin Expenses
Total Expense
Pre-Provision Profit

2018

‘20vs’19

Variance
‘19vs’18

‘20vs’19

Percent
‘19vs’18

24.200
5.836
30.036

30.963
13.231
44.194

17.215
13.043
30.258

[6.763]
[7.395]
[14.158]

13.748
0.188
13.936

[22]
[56]
[32]

80
1
46

1.836
12.931
5.936
7.476
28.200

1.912
11.892
5.506
8.510
27.820

1.710
8.442
4.678
10.842
25.671

[0.076]
1.039
0.430
[1.034]
0.380

0.202
3.450
0.828
[2.332]
2.149

[4]
9
8
[12]
1

12
41
18
[22]
8

1.836

16.373

4.587

[14.537]

11.786

[89]

257

-

9.166

2.136

[9.166]

7.030

[100]

329

1.836

7.207

2.451

[5.371]

4.756

[75]

194

ECL
Net Income

2019

The pandemic has negatively impacted the Bank’s bottom line which resulted to a huge decline of Php 5.371 million or 75% lower compared to that
of the prior year. This after the Gross Revenue went down by Php 14.158 million or 32%.

Total Assets decreased
by 1% as a result of
heavy withdrawals at
the start of the
lockdown in March
2020.

Gross Loan Portfolio
increased by a modest
6% or Php 19 million,
which was much lower
than prior year’s 35%
or Php 82.362 million.

Deposit Liabilities
showed a reduction of
Php 7.183 million or
3% at the end of 2020.

Cash assets went down
by Php 22.7 million.

Table 2: ASSET GROWTH [PM]
Particulars
Total Assets
Cash / DFLB
Gross Loan Port
Deposit Liabilities
Other Liabilities*
Total Equity
ROE
ROA

2020

2019

2018

516.773
180.003
333.688
205.892
225.592
83.033

521.215
202.699
314.633
213.075
225.370
81.198

514.496
261.678
232.271
211.234
226.074
74.925

2.21
0.36

8.88/2.23
1.38

3.27/0.76
0.48

Variance
‘20vs’19
‘19vs’18
[4.442]
6.719
[22696]
[58.979]
19.055
82.363
[7.183]
1.841
0.222
[0.704]
1.835
6.273

*Deposit for Stock Subscription increased from P6.0M to P244.664M in 2018.

Percent
‘20vs’19
‘19vs’18
[1]
1
[11]
[23]
6
35
[3]
1
0
0
2
8
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Loan Portfolio Growth by Loan Type [PM]
Loan Type

2020

2019

2018

Small Enterprise
Medium Enterprise
Agri-Agra
Individual – Housing
Individual – Personal
Individual – Other purpose
Private Corporation
Total Portfolio – Gross

171.535
73.891
29.950
20.613
15.132
3.626
18.941
333.688

152.072
60.986
33.467
22.247
15.680
3.471
26.709
314.633

82.710
47.334
4.833
35.231
11.775
4.448
45.940
232.271

Past Due / ITL
Past Due Rate
ECL
Total Portfolio – Net

39.861
12
27.055
306.602

55.230
18
27.055
287.166

30.997
13
20.809
211.295

Variance
‘20vs’19
‘19vs’18
19.463
69.362
12.905
13.652
[3.517]
28.634
[1.634]
[12.984]
[0.548]
3.905
0.155
[0.987]
[7.768]
[19.231]
19.055
82.363
[15.369]

24.233

19.436

6.246
75.871

Percent
‘20vs’19
‘19vs’18
13
84
21
29
[11]
592
[7]
[37]
[3]
33
4
[22]
[29]
[42]
6
35
[28]
[6]

78
5
30
36
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Small and Medium
Enterprises posted a
significant growth of 13%
and 21%, despite the crisis.
Past Due Rate of 12% was substantially reduced by 6% as a
result of the increase of Php 19.055 million in the loan
portfolio and the decrease in the amount of past due by Php
15.369 million as compared to prior year.

Loan Portfolio Diversification [PM]
LOAN TYPE

2020

%

2019

%

2018

%

Small Enterprise
Medium Enterprise
Agri-Agra
Individual – Housing
Individual – Personal
Individual – Other purpose
Private Corporation

171.535
73.891
29.950
20.615
15.132
3.626
18.941

51
22
9
6
5
1
6

152.072
60.986
33.467
22.247
15.680
3.471
26.709

48
19
11
7
5
1
9

82.710
47.334
4.833
35.231
11.775
4.448
45.940

36
20
2
15
5
2
20

Total Portfolio – Gross

333.688

100

314.633

100

232.271

100

39.861

12

55.230

18

30.997

13

Past Due / ITL
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
(In Philippine Pesos, except selected ratios and headcount)
Minimum Required Data
Profitability
Total Net Interest Income
Total Non-Interest Income
Total Non-Interest Expenses
Pre- Provision Profit
Total Net Interest Income
Allowance for Credit Losses
Net Income
Selected Balance Sheet Data
Liquid Assets
Gross Loans
Total Assets
Deposits
Total Equity
Selected Ratios
Return on Equity
Return on Assets
Capital Adequacy Ratio
Others
Dividends Declared
Headcount
Officers
Staff

2020

RISK MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK

2019

22,362,857.00
5,835,929.00
26,363,241.00
0
22,362,857.00
27,054,954.00
1,835,544.00

30,963,248.00
13,230,429.00
30,217,040.00
0
13,976,637.00
6,769,619.00
7,207,018.00

180,036,373.00
333,688,313.00
516,773,297.00
205,891,548.00
83,033,473.00

202,240,585.00
314,632,958.00
521,214,949.00
213,075,069.00
81,197,928.00

2.21%
0.36%
18.43

8.88%
1.38%
18.60

N/A

N/A

9
25

7
27

Overall Risk Management Culture and Philosophy
The bank’s risk management framework encompasses the scope
of risks to be managed, the processes/systems and procedures
to manage risk and the roles and the responsibilities of
individuals involved in risk management. The framework seeks
to be comprehensive enough to capture all risks the bank is
exposed to and have flexibility to accommodate any change in
business activities. To make it effective, the risk management
framework includes:
a) clearly defined risk management policies and procedures
covering risk identification, acceptance, measurement,
monitoring, reporting and control;
b) a well-constituted organizational structure defining clearly
roles and responsibilities of individuals involved in risk taking
as well as managing it. This includes the operation of the Risk
Management Committee (RMC), which shall be independent
from risk-taking units and reports directly to the Board;
c) maintenance of an effective management information system
that ensures the flow of information from operational level to
top management and a system to address any exceptions
observed;
d) a mechanism to ensure an ongoing review of systems, policies
and procedures for risk management and procedures to
adopt changes.

As a financial institution, METRO CEBU PUBLIC SAVINGS
BANK continues to comply with an evolving regulatory
and legislative framework. The nature and the impact of
future changes in laws and regulations are not always
predictable. These changes have implications on the way
business is conducted and corresponding potential
impact to capital and liquidity.
Effective risk management is essential to consistent and
sustainable performance for all of our stakeholders and
is therefore a central part of the financial and
operational management of the Bank. We add value to
clients and therefore to the communities in which we
operate, generating returns for shareholders by taking
and managing risk.
Through our Risk Management Framework, we manage
enterprise-wide risks, with the objective of maximizing
risk-adjusted returns while remaining within our risk
appetite.

AML GOVERNANCE AND CULTURE
It is the policy of the bank to ensure that risks associated with money-laundering such
as counterparty, reputational, operational, and compliance risks are properly identified,
assessed, monitored, mitigated and controlled, to ensure that it is not used to legitimize
proceeds of unlawful activity or to facilitate or finance terrorism.
In pursuance of the above, the bank’s Board of Directors has approved and the bank has
adopted a comprehensive and risk-based Money-Laundering and Terrorist Financing
Prevention Program (MLPP), implementation of which is assigned to the Compliance
Department. The MTPP covers the following areas:
a) detailed procedures of the bank’s compliance and implementation of the major
requirements of the AMLA, which are customer identification process, recordkeeping and retention, covered transaction reporting, and suspicious transaction
monitoring and reporting;
b) training program for all directors, officers and employees to enable them to fully
comply with obligations and responsibilities imposed by regulatory bodies and
agencies pertaining to anti-money laundering and countering of terrorist financing;
c) adequate screening and recruitment process to ensure that only qualified
personnel who have no criminal records are employed to assume sensitive banking
functions;
d) an adequate internal audit system;
e) an independent audit program on the bank’s compliance with AMLA regulations;
f) a mechanism that ensures all deficiencies noted during the audit and/or BSP
examination are immediately corrected and acted upon;
g) cooperation with the AMLC; and
h) designation of a qualified AML Compliance Officer, who shall head the Bank’s
Compliance Office, the lead implementer of the compliance program.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE
The Board of Directors of MCPSB is composed of five (5) directors with a combination
of executive and non-executive directors which includes independent directors. All
are professionals with competencies and experience in the fields of banking,
accounting, economics, microfinance, law and agri-business.
Members of the Board are elected during the annual stockholders meeting and each
will hold office for one (1) year, subject to the approved qualification and
disqualification criteria established under the Corporate Governance Committee,
BSP’s fit and proper rule and other existing laws and regulations. The stockholders of
the bank themselves nominate the members of the Board and Senior Management
to further their interests in the bank.
It is one of the duties and responsibilities of the Board to oversee the selection and
performance of senior management. The Board is responsible for the appointment
of competent professional, honest and highly-motivated management team at all
times; adoption of an effective succession planning program; monitoring and
assessment of the performance of the management team based on established
performance standards that are consistent with the Bank’s strategic objectives; and
the conduct of a regular review of the bank’s policies with the management team.
The Board also ensure that senior management expertise and knowledge shall remain
relevant given the Bank’s strategic objectives, complexity of operations and people
risk.
The Board of Directors is responsible in the approval and oversight of management’s
implementation of bank’s strategic objectives, risk strategy, corporate governance
and corporate values. The Bank has a sound strategic planning process in formulating
its strategic goals and objectives consistent with its corporate mission, values and risk
tolerance, and for translating those goals and objectives into a well-structured
strategic plan for delivery and measurement of desired outcomes. The board has
always provided effective oversight of the planning and implementation of strategic
goals with Senior Management consistently demonstrating a high level of experience
and expertise in carrying out strategic decisions successfully within stated risk
tolerance levels. Major initiatives/programs are managed accordingly with the annual

budget preparation where targets/plans are considered and budgets/
resources are mapped against targets. Monthly meetings are
conducted to cascade information necessary to improve the existing
processes.
All new directors joining the Board, except those specifically exempted
under BSP Circular No. 969, are required within 6 months from date of
election or appointment to undergo an orientation program on
corporate governance conducted by training providers duly accredited
by the SEC or BSP. This is intended to familiarize the new directors on
their statutory/fiduciary roles and responsibilities in the Board and
Committees, the Bank’s strategic plans, enterprise risks, group
structures, business activities, compliance programs, Code of Conduct
and Business Ethics and Corporate Governance Manual. All members
of the Board of Directors are required to attend the annual corporate
governance training. The present members of the Board of Directors
have attended the ICD Orientation Program for the Board of Directors.
Senior Management were qualified based on their extensive banking
experience. The Bank, through the Corporate Secretary’s Office,
furnishes all of its directors with a copy of the duties and
responsibilities of the Board of Directors. Each director is required to
acknowledge receipt of the copies of such and certify that they fully
understand the same.
The remuneration and other incentives policy for directors is
consistent with the long-term interest of the Bank, does not encourage
excessive risk-taking, and is not in conflict with the director’s fiduciary
responsibilities. At present, each member of the Board receives a
monthly per diem for every Board and Board Committee meeting at a
uniform rate. An additional fixed monthly salary is given to directors
occupying executives functions.
On a periodic basis, the Board of Directors conducts a self-assessment
of its performance against established criteria, for purposes of
assessing its effectiveness and as a tool in its efforts to improve its
structure, composition and practices and procedures.

CHAIRMAN OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
The Chairman is primarily responsible for leading the Board and ensuring its
effectiveness.
The role of the Chairman of the Board includes the following:

6. Guarantees that the Board receives accurate, timely, relevant,
insightful, concise and clear information to enable it to make
sound decisions;

1. Provides leadership in the Board of Directors. The Chairman of the Board shall
ensure effective functioning of the Board, including maintaining a relationship of
trust with board members;

7. Facilitates discussion on key issues by fostering an environment
conducive for constructive debate and leveraging on the skills
and expertise of individual directors;

2. Ensures that the Board takes an informed decision through a sound decisionmaking process, encourage and promote critical discussions, ensure dissenting
view are expressed and fully considered within the decision-making process;
3. Ensures that the meetings of the Board of Directors are held in accordance with
the By-Laws of the Bank;

8. Ensures that the Board sufficiently challenges and inquires on
reports submitted and representations made by Management;

4. Ensures that the Board of Directors exercises strong oversight over the Bank’s
business and performance of senior management to minimize if not eliminate
issues that may affect its reputation in the market place;

10. Makes sure that performance of the Board is evaluated at least
once a year and discussed/followed up on.

5. Makes certain that the meeting agenda focuses on strategic matters, including
the overall risk appetite of the Bank, considering the development in the business
and regulatory environments, key governance concerns, and contentious issues
that will significantly affect operations;

9. Assures availability of proper orientation for first-time directors
and continuing training opportunities for all directors; and

The Board Chairman, providing leadership in the Board, works
closely with the President/Chief Executive Officer. This
complementary relationship provides appropriate balance of power,
increased accountability, and independent decision-making by the
Board while Management has the responsibility to execute the
strategic plans of the Bank.
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ISAIAS P. DICDICAN, Chairman of the Board of Directors; Filipino; 74 years old
Isaias P. Dicdican first joined Metro Cebu Public Savings Bank as an Independent Director on
November 22, 2017. He was elected as Chairman of the Board of Directors on December 11, 2017 and
has been discharging its functions since. He is also currently an Independent Director of San Miguel
Global Corporation.
Prior to joining MCPSB, he served as an Associate Justice in the Court of Appeals and was also a
Presiding Judge of the Regional Trial Court in Cebu City for eleven (11) years and nine (9) years,
respectively.

THE

He holds a Bachelor's Degree in Arts from the Siliman University and a Bachelor's Degree in Law from
the University of San Carlos. He finished his MBA at the University of the Philippines.

RUEL Z. ROMARATE, President and CEO; Filipino; 66 years old

BOARD
OF

Ruel Z. Romarate was elected Independent Director of Metro Cebu Public Savings Bank on January 12,
2017 and was subsequently elected President of the bank on November 22, 2017, with both functions
he serves concurrently.
Prior to joining Metro Cebu Public Savings Bank, he served as the Vice President of Land Bank of the
Philippines (LBP), a government-owned and operated bank, for thirty-two (32) years. He also served as
Director of Wealth Bank (WB), a thrift bank in the Philippines, for two (2) years, and as Director of First
Consolidated Bank (FCB), a private, independent development savings bank in the Philippines, for four
(4) years.
He holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Mathematics from the De La Salle University and finished his MBA in
the University of the Philippines. He is also a graduate of Leadership and Management Development
Program in Ateneo Professional School.

MERLE P. CUNANAN, Independent Director; Filipino; 75 years old

DIRECTORS

Atty. Merle P. Cunanan was elected Independent Director of Metro Cebu Public Savings Bank on
November 22, 2017.
She is also a Director of Young Lady Association Charity (YLAC) from 2000, and of Georich Livelihood
Foundation from 2005. Since 2010, she is a Consultant of Gaisano Capital Group of Companies. She is a
Director and Corporate Secretary of St. Benedict Child Education Center since 2011, and is President of
Gaisano Capital Foundation since 2012 and of One Pavilion Condominium Corp. since 2015.
Formerly, she was Money Market Trader and Assistant Accountant at General Bank & Trust Company
(GenBank) from 1970 to 1976. From 1977 to 2009, she served as Director of the Securities and
Exchange Commission (SEC), an agency of the Philippine Government. She was also President of Zonta
Club of One Cebu, an organization of executives and professionals working together to advance the
status of women worldwide through services and advocacy, from 1988 to 1990.
She holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Commerce and a Bachelor’s Degree in Law from the University of San
Carlos in the year 1966 and 1971, respectively.

JOHNIE C. LIM, Independent Director; Filipino; 62 years old
Johnie C. Lim was elected Independent Director of Metro Cebu Public Savings Bank on April 4, 2017.
He is also the President and CEO of Body and Sole Franchise Corporation, a position he occupies since
June of 2005.
Prior to joining Metro Cebu Public Savings Bank, he served as an Internal Auditor of William Lines, Inc.
(now 2GO Group, Inc.) from 1980 to 1985. He was also Plant Manager of the following companies:
Clarzon Enterprises from 1987 to 1992; Pacific Traders from 1993 to 1996, and of Aso Pharmaceutical,
Inc. from 1997 to 2000. From 2001 to 2002, he served as General Manager of JUAN’S PHILIPPINES, a
premier travel magazine in the Philippines. He was also President of Spa and Wellness Association of
Cebu, Inc. from 2005 to 2010.
He is a graduate of Bachelor of Science in Business Management in Accounting in Siliman University, and
his post graduate program include MBA units from the University of the Philippines – Cebu in 2011.
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JOSE LUIS U. YULO, JR., Director; Filipino; 71 years old
Jose Luis U. Yulo, Jr. was elected Chairman of the Board of Directors of Metro Cebu Public Savings
Bank on August 16, 2005 and had since served as Director of the bank since the end of his tenure.
Mr. Yulo is also the President of Centrex Corp. and Octanorm Phils., Inc. since 1983; Mondotek
Corp., of which he also exercises Chairmanship, since 2001; KVY Realty since 2002; and Chamber
of Commerce of the Philippine Islands since 2012.
Mr. Yulo is also Chairman of the Board of Directors of Philippine Exhibits & Theme Parks Corp.
(PETCO) since 1989; Insurance of the Philippine Islands, now 107 Exchange Insurance Broker,
Inc., since 1987; Tradco Global Management since 1998; Environmental Dynamics Corp. since
2000; and Majesta Property Holdings since 2003. He is also an Independent Director of Petron
Corporation since 2001.

THE

Formerly, he was Director and Manager of General Diesel Power Corp. from 1974 to 1982, Managing Director of Philcite
Philippine International Corp. in 1977 to 1989 and Treasurer of Confederation of Asian Chamber of Commerce & Industry in
1980.
He also served as Director, Chairman and President of Unitrust Development Bank from 1983, 1995, and 2000, respectively,
until his resignation in 2001.

BOARD

In 1980, Mr. Yulo became Commissioner and Co-Founder of the Philippine Chamber of Commerce and Industry, and, in 1990,
was also Secretary General of the Asean Chamber of Commerce & Industry.
From 1992 to 1995, he was Chairman of the Board of Directors of Pacific Union Insurance Company and was Director of
Philippine International Convention Center in 1995. He served as President and CEO of Philippine International Trading Corp.
from 1991 to 1997. From 1997 to 2000, he was President and CEO of the Philippine Stock Exchange, President and Chairman
of Philippines Central Depository, and Chairman of Securities Clearing Corp. of the Philippines.

OF

Mr. Yulo finished his Bachelor’s Degree in Political Science from the University of the Philippines and his post graduate
program include a master’s degree in Business Management at the Asian Institute of Management, and a course in Advance
Management at Stanford University.

DIRECTORS

OLIVER Y. DICDICAN, Corporate Secretary; Filipino; 45 years old
Atty. Oliver Y. Dicdican was appointed Corporate Secretary of Metro Cebu Public Savings Bank on
November 22, 2017.
He was legal researcher of Classique Properties Development Corporation from December 2015 to July
2016 and is now its legal counsel since August 1, 2016.
Prior to joining Metro Cebu Public Savings Bank, he served as Executive Secretary IV of the Court of
Appeals in Manila from 2010 to 2015.
He holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Medical Technology from Velez College. His post graduate studies
include a Bachelor’s Degree in Medicine from the Cebu Institute of Medicine and a Bachelor’s Degree in
Law from the University of Cebu. He is a passer of both the Philippine Physician Licensure Examination
administered by the Professional Regulatory Commission and the Bar Examination administered by the
Supreme Court.
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BOARD COMPOSITION
Principal Stockholder
represented, if
nominee

Type of
Directorship

NAME
Isaias P. Dicdican
Ruel Z. Romarate
Merle P. Cunanan
Johnie C. Lim
Jose Luis U. Yulo, Jr.

Non-Executive
Executive
Independent
Independent
Non-Executive

No. of Years
served as
Director

n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a

Retired CA Justice Isaias P.
Dicdican was elected
Chairman of the Board of
Directors on December 11,
2017 and was subsequently
re-elected to the same
position oin the succeeding
year's Annual Stockholders'
Meetings.

No. of Direct
and Indirect
Shares Held

4.5
5.5
4.5
4.5
16

% of Shares Held to
Total Outstanding
Shares of the Bank

1
1
1
1
203,538

0.00%
0.00%
0.00%
0.00%
20.72%

Ruel Z. Romarate was
elected as Independent
Director by the Board of
Directors on January 12,
2017 and was elected
President of the bank on
November 22, 2017. He was
then re-elected to the same
position in the succeeding
year's Annual Stockholders'
Meetings.

Dir. Johnie C. Lim and Atty. Merle
P. Cunanan were elected
Independent Directors on April
22, 2017 and November 22, 2017,
respec tively, and were since reelected to the same position in
the succeeding year's Annual
Stockholders' Meeting.

Director’s Attendance at Board and Committee Meetings
Name of Director
Isaias P. Dicdican
Merle P. Cunanan
Ruel Z. Romarate
Johnie C. Lim
Jose Luis U. Yulo, Jr.
Total # of Meetings
Held During the Year

No. of Board
Meetings
9
9
9
9
4
9

100%
100%
100%
100%
44.4%

Risk Mgt.
Committee
Meetings
9
9
9
9
4
9

100%
100%
100%
100%
44.4%

Audit
Committee
Meetings
9
9
9
9
4
9

100%
100%
100%
100%
44.4%

Corp. Gov.
Committee
Meetings
8
8
8
8
3
8

100%
100%
100%
100%
37.5%

Credit
Committee
Meetings
9
9
9
9
4
9

100%
100%
100%
100%
44.4%

AML
Committee
Meetings
9
9
9
9
4
9

100%
100%
100%
100%
44.4%

ALCO
Meetings
9
9
9
9
4
9

100%
100%
100%
100%
44.4%

EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

RUEL Z. ROMARATE, Director and CEO

Engr. ALEX S. ROJAS, EVP and COO

Educational Attainment:
BS Mathematics - Philippine Normal College/DLSU (1979)
Master in Business Management - University of the Philippines (1994)
Leadership & Mgt. Dev't. Program - Ateneo Professional School (2002-2003)

Educational Attainment:
BS in Agricultural Engineering - Visayas State University (1985)
Diploma in Agriculture Program - University of the Philippines Los Baños (1990)
Master in Science in Mgt. Engineering (30 units) - University of the Visayas (1992-1994)

Experience:
- Director of Wealth Bank (WB) from 2011 to 2012
- Director of First Consolidated Bank (FCB) from 2006 to 2012
- Vice President of Land Bank of the Philippines (LBP) from 2003 to 2014

Experience:
- Division Chief, Project Development Officer, Agrarian Affairs Specialist of Land Bank of
the Philippines (LBP) from 1991 to 2003
- Agriculturist at the Agriculture Training Institute (ATI) from 1990 to 1991
- Agricultural Technologist at the Department of Agriculture (DA) from 1987 to 1990
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BOARD COMMITTEES
CORPORATE GOVERNMENT COMMITTEE
Chairman:
Members:

Isaias P. Dicdican
Jose Luis U. Yulo, Jr.
Merle P. Cunanan
Johnie C. Lim
Ruel Z. Romarate - Secretariat

CREDIT COMMITTEE
Chairman:
Members:

ANTI-MONEY LAUNDERING (AML) COMMITEE

RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE
Chairman:
Members:

Merle P. Cunanan
Isaias P. Dicdican
Johnie C. Lim
Aubrey M. Estela (Acctg. Head) - Secretariat

Chairman:
Members:

AUDIT COMMITTEE
Chairman:
Members:

Merle P. Cunanan
Jose Luis U. Yulo, Jr.
Johnie C. Lim
Aubrey M. Estela (Acctg. Head) - Secretariat

Ruel Z. Romarate
Isaias P. Dicidcan
Alex S. Rojas (EVP/COO)
Kent Isaac M. Managay (Head of Loans Unit) - Secretariat

Ruel Z. Romarate
Raquel R. Restauro (Branch Manager - Tabunok)
Belbert F. Maglasang (Branch Manager - Lapu2x)
Lynn Z. Palatan (Branch Manager - Bacalso)
Judessa Anna V. Gonzales (CCO) - Secretariat

ASSET LIABILITY COMMITTEE (ALCO)
Chairman:
Members:

Ruel Z. Romarate
Raquel R. Restauro (Branch Manager - Tabunok)
Belbert F. Maglasang (Branch Manager - Lapu2x)
Lynn Z. Palatan (Branch Manager - Bacalso)

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

AUDIT COMMITTEE

 Responsible for ensuring the Board’s effectiveness and due
observance of corporate governance principles and
guidelines.

 Reviews and approves the audit plan, its scope and frequency.

 Monitors, assesses and controls the performance of
management. It oversees the periodic performance
evaluation of the Board and its Committees and Executive
Management.
 Reviews and evaluates the qualifications of all persons
nominated to the Board as well as those nominated to other
positions requiring appointment by the Board of Directors
based on its periodic performance evaluation.

 Receives key audit reports, and ensure that senior management
is taking necessary corrective actions in a timely manner to
address the weaknesses, non-compliance with policies, laws and
regulations and other issues identified by auditors.
 Has explicit authority to investigate any matter within its terms
of reference, full access to and cooperation by management and
full discretion to invite any Director or Executive Officer to
attend its meetings, and adequate resources to enable it to
effectively discharge its functions.

 Recommends the adoption of internal guidelines that address
the competing time commitments that are faced when
directors serve on multiple boards.

 Responsible for ensuring that a review of the effectiveness of
the institution’s internal controls, including financial,
operational and compliance controls, and risk management is
conducted at least annually.

 Makes recommendations to the Board regarding the
continuing education of directors, assignment to board
committees, succession plan for the board members and
senior officers, and their remuneration commensurate with
corporate and individual performance.

 Responsible for establishing and maintaining mechanisms by
which officers and staff may, in confidence, raise concerns about
possible improprieties or malpractices in matters of financial
reporting, internal control, auditing or other issues to persons or
entities that have the power to take corrective action.

 Decides the manner by which the Board’s performance shall
be evaluated and propose an objective performance criteria
approved by the Board. Such performance indicators shall
address how the Board has enhanced long-term shareholders’
value.

 Responsible for ensuring that arrangements are in place for the
independent investigation, appropriate follow-up action, and
subsequent resolution of complaints.
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RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE
 Responsible for assessing the probability of each risk
becoming reality and shall estimate its possible effect
and cost. Priority areas of concern are those risks that
are most likely to occur and are costly when they
happen.
 Responsible for developing a written plan defining the
strategies for managing and controlling the major risks.
It shall identify practical strategies to reduce the chance
of harm and failure or minimize losses if the risk
becomes real.
 Conducts regular discussion on the institution’s current
risk exposure based on regular management reports and
assess how the concerned units or offices reduce these
risks.
 Evaluates the Risk Management Plan to ensure its
continued
relevance,
comprehensiveness,
and
effectiveness.
 Responsible for revisiting strategies, looking for
emerging or changing exposures, and staying abreast of
developments that affect the likelihood of harm or loss.

ANTI-MONEY LAUNDERING (AML) COMMITTEE
 Evaluates, investigates and determines eligibility of transactions reported as
suspicious prior to submission of the report to the Anti-Money Laundering
Committee (AMLC).
 Responsible for ensuring the continuous monitoring of activities which partake of, or
may lead to, money laundering activities, and shall report the same to the AMLC, or
to other agencies, whenever proper and necessary. The Committee shall develop and
recommend internal guidelines and policies in establishing anti-money laundering
measures in furtherance of the anti-money laundering laws and regulations of the
Philippines, as may be established by competent authorities and/or agencies, as the
case may be.
 Exercises oversight functions on Bank’s compliance with the AMLA, as well as
regulations of the BSP, AMLC, and other regulatory bodies and agencies.
 Responsible for formulating, together with the Chief Compliance Officer, anti-money
laundering prevention programs and policies and ensuring that its Manual is reviewed
and updated at least once a year.
 Provides policy direction in the implementation of the AMLA and other applicable
laws, rules and regulations, and maintains and monitors the capability and effectivity
of the Bank’s AMLC system, pursuant to the requirements of Section 1881 of the
MORB, requiring an electronic monitoring system for money laundering.
 Responsible for receiving, deliberating and taking the appropriate action in respect of
any request from the BSP and/or the AMLA, subject to such limitations as may be
provided for by existing laws and regulations, for assistance in their own anti-money
laundering operations. However, the Committee may refuse to comply with any such
request, advice or directive where the action sought therein contravenes the
provisions of existing laws and regulations.
 Decides and approves any administrative sanctions for the violation by employees of
the Bank of any laws, rules and regulations, orders or resolutions issued by the BSP,
AMLC or any other authorized agency, or for violation of any Bank rules or
regulations, as the Committee may deem necessary.

CREDIT COMMITTEE
 Assists the Board of Directors in fulfilling its responsibilities by providing oversight of
the Bank’s policies and management activities relating to the identification,
assessment, measurement, monitoring, and management of the Bank’s credit risk.
 Reviews processes, reports and other information as it deems appropriate, including
those related to the following:
a Loan-quality rating and examination review process
b Organizational structure and resources of Risk Asset Review (RAR) covering the
credit portfolios, processes and practices and other internal and external audit
and examinations;
c Adherence to credit risk appetite and compliance with the guidelines and
regulatory requirements regarding customer credit risk and concentration.
d Management of new problem assets and the frequency and reasons for credit
policy exceptions
e Credit’s annual credit risk self-assessment
 Monitors the performance and quality of the credit portfolio through the review of
selected measures of credit quality and trends and such other information as
identified by management or as it deems appropriate, including classified and nonperforming assets and delinquencies.
 Reviews management’s assessment of the appropriateness of the allowance for
credit losses, and shall periodically review the methodology and governance that
support management’s establishment of the allowance for credit losses.
 Performs such other credit-related activities as it deems appropriate or as may be
required by applicable laws, rules or regulations, including activities relating to the
following:
a Review of the credit quality plan
b Approval of the lending policies
c Review of the credit stress testing framework and related stress test results, as
well as the credit-related aspects of the Basel III
 Oversees the reputation risk related to the Credit Committee responsibilities.
 In performing its responsibilities, the Credit Committee is authorized to obtain advice
and assistance from internal or external legal, accounting or other advisors at the
Bank’s expense without prior permission of the Board.
 Responsible for reviewing and assessing the adequacy of this Charter annually. The
Credit Committee may recommend amendments to this Charter at any time and
submit amendments for approval to the Board.
 Performs such other duties and responsibilities as may be directed by the Board.

ASSET LIABILITY COMMITTEE (ALCO)
 Provides oversight to assure appropriate identification,
measuring, controlling, and monitoring of the Bank’s liquidity
risk, interest rate risk, and capital adequacy positions. It is also
responsible for the Bank’s investment activities.
 Reviews and approves any proposed changes which may be
recommended by management or be initiated by the ALCO.
 Reviews policies and plans annually.
 Monitors the actions and results of management to assure that:
a
b
c
d

Good liquidity is being maintained within policy and issued
guidelines;
Any and all interest rate risk is appropriately measured,
monitored and controlled;
Any trends of liquidity and interest rate risk are monitored,
and corrective actions are being taken in case of problems;
Appropriate standards or limits are established and strictly
followed;

 Ensures to annually review, revise as necessary, and approve the
capital build up plan.
 Oversees the management of the assets and ensures that
funding sources of the bank is consistent with its growth and
profitability objectives while meeting policy on interest rate risk,
liquidity, and capital adequacy.
 Monitors management’s investment activities and ensures that
they are in compliance with the investment policy, if any.
 Responsible for reviewing and assessing the adequacy of its
Charter annually and approve amendments to its Charter at any
time.
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INDEPENDENT FUNCTIONS: Compliance and Internal Audit
The Internal Audit Department focuses on identifying and evaluating those internal controls
which are needed to guard against financial risk. It does this through both financial and
operational audits. This will cover the controls in place to fulfill regulatory requirements but will
extend beyond to non-regulatory aspects of the business too. The audits will result in a series of
recommendations which the internal audit function will then follow up with management of the
business over time.

In accordance with the rules and regulations of the
Bangko Sentral ng Pilipinas (BSP), MCPSB has
established a Compliance System to specifically
identify and mitigate business risks. This is an
integral part of the Bank’s internal control ensuring
that the Bank’s undertakings are conducted in
accordance with all applicable banking laws and
regulations.

The Internal Audit Department reports to and is under the direct supervision of the Audit
Committee.

MCPSB’s Compliance Office, through the Chief
Compliance Officer (CCO), oversees the design of the
Bank’s Compliance System, the overall compliance
framework of the Bank executed through a
Compliance Program, and promotes their effective
implementation. It shall also be responsible for the
management and oversight of the conduct of AntiMoney Laundering (AML) Compliance Checking,
independent from that performed by Internal Audit,
and any notable findings in relation to Anti-Money
Laundering is directly reportable to the AMLA
Committee.

The Internal Audit shall monitor employee performance to ensure that they are following the
Bank’s established internal compliance policies and procedures. The frequency and volume of
employee turnover shall be factored into the schedule for reviews. Such testing and reviews are
especially critical when regulations change, new products are introduced or when additional
branch locations are opened.

The Bank’s ability to pay
dividends is contingent on its
ability
to
set
aside
unrestricted
retained
earnings
for
dividend
distribution. In addition, the
Bank’s
declaration
of
dividends,
including
computation of unrestricted
retained earnings, is subject
to compliance with certain
rules
and
regulations
prescribed by the BSP as
provided under the Manual of
Regulations for Banks (MORB)
and subject to compliance
with such financial regulatory
requirements as may be
applicable to the Bank at the
time of such declaration.
As of 2020, the Bank has not
yet declared any dividends.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Compliance Office reports to and is under the
direct supervision of the Board of Directors.

Transactions of the Bank with a Related
Party shall be allowed provided that
these comply with pertinent and
applicable limits and requirements set by
regulatory bodies and those outlined in
the Bank’s policy. The Bank ensures that
such transactions are conducted on an
arm’s length basis in the regular or
ordinary course of business and shall not
be undertaken on terms and conditions
more favorable to such related parties
than similar or comparable transactions
with non-related parties under similar
circumstances.
The Management shall initially evaluate,
review
and
approve/disapprove
proposed
RPTs
prior
to
their
endorsement to the Board for approval
and/or confirmation. The Board of
Directors is responsible in the review and
approval/disapproval of material RPTs,
RPTs of accounts classified as DOSRI, and
RPTs involving write-off (regardless of
related party and amount). All approved
related party transactions shall be
reported regularly to the Audit
Committee during its monthly meeting/s
and quarterly to the BSP.
An actual or potential conflict of interest,
directly or indirectly, on a transaction
that arises on the part of any member of
the Board of Directors, officers and
stockholders shall be disclosed to the
Board of Directors. Directors and officers
with personal interest shall abstain from
the
discussion,
approval
and
management of such transaction.

CONSUMER PROTECTION PRACTICES

Monitoring and testing shall be done by the Compliance Department, Internal Audit Department,
and the branch/department Compliance Coordinator (CO). Copies of the reports of the
aforementioned staff/units shall be furnished to the Compliance Department and Internal Audit
Department, which shall be responsible for monitoring the compliance issues noted. To ensure
that issues are attended to, a summary thereof shall be prepared, on which the concerned
branch/unit shall give a regular update. In turn, these shall be included in the report of the
Compliance Department and Internal Audit Department to the Board of Directors and Audit
Committee, respectively.

The Bank adheres to the
guidelines set forth in the
Manual of Regulations for
Banks on Consumer Protection
Practices. Consumer protection
practices are adopted thru the
bank's Consumer Protection
Program as duly approved by
its
Board
of
Directors,
embedded in the banking
operations, and considered in
the
development
and
implementation of products
and services.
The
Board
is
primarily
responsible for the delivery of
effective recourse to its
consumers. The Board drafts
and approves policies and
procedures
relating
to
Consumer Protection and
Assistance, and reviews it at
least annually and ensures
compliance thereto. The Senior
Management is responsible for
the implementation of such
policies and procedures.
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
Organizational Structure (as of December 31, 2020)

CORPORATE

BRANCH BANKING

List of major stockholders
STOCKHOLDER
Group Management Corporation
Insurance of the Philippine Islands
Private Holdings Management Corp.
Thelmo, Anna Kathrina
Yulo, Jose Luis U. Jr.
Land Bank of the Philippines

NATIONALITY
Filipino
Filipino
Filipino
Filipino
Filipino
Filipino

% OF STOCKHOLDINGS

VOTING STATUS

45.08%
37.02%
8.14%
5.05%
4.71%
0.00%

Voting
Voting
Voting
Voting
Voting
Non-Voting

15

PRODUCTS AND SERVICES OFFERED
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BANK WEBSITE
(mcpsb.com)
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AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
STATEMENT OF MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITY

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
Report on the Audited Financial Statements

The Management of METRO CEBU PUBLIC SAVINGS BANK, INC. (Formerly:
Talisay Public Savings and Loan Association, Inc.) is responsible for all
information and representations contained in the Annual Income Tax
Return for the year ended December 31, 2020. Management is likewise
responsible for all information and representations contained in the
financial statements accompanying the Annual Income Tax Return
covering the same reporting period. Furthermore, the Management is
responsible for all information and representations contained in all the
other tax returns filed for the reporting period, including, but not limited,
to the value added tax and/or percentage tax returns, withholding tax
returns, documentary stamp tax returns, and any all other tax returns.
In this regard, the Management affirms that the attached audited financial
statements for the year ended December 31, 2020 and the accompanying
Annual Income Tax Return are in accordance with the books and records
of METRO CEBU PUBLIC SAVINGS BANK, INC. (Formerly: Talisay Public
Savings and Loan Association, Inc.) complete and correct in all material
respects. Management likewise affirms that:
(a)

the Annual Income Tax Return has been prepared in accordance
with the provisions of the National Internal Revenue Code, as
amended, and pertinent tax regulations and other issuances of
the Department of Finance and the Bureau of Internal Revenue;

(b) any disparity of figures in the submitted reports arising from the
preparation of financial statements pursuant to financial
accounting standards and the preparation of the income tax
return pursuant to tax accounting rules has been reported as
reconciling items and maintained in the Bank’s books and
records in accordance with the requirements of Revenue
Regulations No. 8-2007 and other relevant issuances;
(c)

the METRO CEBU PUBLIC SAVINGS BANK, INC. (Formerly: Talisay
Public Savings and Loan Association, Inc.) has filed all applicable
tax returns, reports and statements required to be filed under
Philippine tax laws for the reporting period, and all taxes and
other impositions shown thereon to be due and payable have
been paid for the reporting period, except those contested in
good faith.

RET. JUSTICE ISAIAS P. DICDICAN
Chairman of the Board

RUEL Z. ROMARATE
Chief Executive Officer

Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of METRO CEBU PUBLIC SAVINGS BANK, INC.
(Formerly: Talisay Public Savings and Loan Association, Inc.), which comprise the
statements of financial condition as at December 31, 2020 and 2019 and the statements of
comprehensive income, statements of changes in capital funds and statements of cash
flows for the years then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary
of significant accounting policies.
In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial condition of the Bank as at December 31, 2020 and its financial
performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Philippine
Financial Reporting Standards (PFRS), as modified by the application of the financial
reporting reliefs issued by the BSP and approved by the SEC, and the financial condition of
the Bank as at December 31, 2019, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the
year ended in accordance with PFRS.
Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audits in accordance with Philippine Standards on Auditing (PSAs). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Bank in accordance with the Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants in the Philippines (Code of Ethics) together with the ethical requirements that
are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the Philippines, and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the Code of
Ethics. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion.
Emphasis on Matters
As more fully discussed in Note 24, the management has determined that in spite of the
impact of the pandemic, the Bank can still continue as a going concern.
As more fully discussed in Note 2.1 and 24, the financial statements of the Bank as at and
for the year ended December 31, 2020 were prepared in accordance with PFRS, as modified
by the application of the financial reporting reliefs issued by the BSP and approved by the
SEC. the Bank availed of staggered booking of allowance for credit losses overa maximum
of five (5) years in 2020.
Our opinion is not qualified regarding these matters.
Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial
Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial
statements in accordance with PFRS or PFRS, as modified by the application of the financial
reporting reliefs issued by the BSP and approved by the SEC, and for such internal control
as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements
that are free form material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Bank’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends
to liquidate the Bank or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Bank’s financial
reporting process.
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

LYNN Z. PALATAN
Chief Financial Officer
Signed this 14th of April 2021.

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with PSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these financial statements.
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As part of an audit in accordance with PSAs, we exercise professional judgment and
maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:
Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.
Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Bank’s internal
control.
Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness
of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.
Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis
of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Bank’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the Bank to cease to continue as a going concern.
Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.
We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our
audit.
Report on the Supplementary Information Required under Revenue Regulations 022014, 15-2010 and 34-2020
Our audits were conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the basic financial
statements taken as a whole. The supplementary information required under Revenue
Regulations 02-2014, 15-2010 and 34-2020 in Note 25 to the financial statements are
presented for purposes of filing with the Bureau of Internal Revenue, and are not a
required part of the basic financial statements. Such information is the responsibility
of the management of METRO CEBU PUBLIC SAVINGS BANK (Formerly: Talisay Public
Savings and Loan Association, Inc.). the information has been subjected to the
auditing procedures applied in our audit of the basic financial statements. In our
opinion, the information is fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the basic
financial statements taken as whole.

STA. ANA RIVERA & CO.
SEC Accreditation No. 0218-FR-3 until September 4, 2022 (Group B)
BOA/PRC Cert. of Reg. No. 0144 until September 12, 2022
IC Accreditation No. F-2018-009-R until September 18, 2021
BSP Accreditation No. 0144-BSP (up to 2024 Audit Period)
TIN 001-075-090-000
By:

JONATHAN G. RIVERA
Partner
CPA Reg. No. 20802
TIN 105-302-983-000
PTR No. 2003249, January 20, 2021, Cebu City
SEC Accreditation No. 1450-AR-2 until September 23, 2022 (Group B)
BSP Accreditation No. 20802-BSP (up to 2024 Audit Period)
BIR Accreditation No. 13-001230-002-2019 until February 14, 2022
Cebu City, Philippines
April 12, 2021

Statement of Financial Condition
2020
Assets
Cash and other cash items
Due from BSP
Due from other banks
Loans & Receivables, net
Other financial assets at
amortized cost
Bank premises, lease improvements
& PPE, net
Investment property
Intangible assets, net
Other resources
Total Assets

2019

2,612,553
16,951,653
62,109,167
307,854,395

2,952,833
17,059,116
74,683,635
288,603,623

98,329,710

108,003,547

5,232,145
22,391,398
624,444
667,833
516,773,298

4,702,926
23,778,494
708,889
721,885
521,214,948

Liabilities and Capital Funds
Liabilities
Deposit Liabilities
AP and accrued expenses
Income Tax Payable
Redeemable preferred shares
Deposit for future subscription
Total Liabilities

205,891,548
2,172,655
271,215
100,000
224,764,000
433,199,418

213,075,069
2,119,381
1,109,501
100,000
224,664,000
441,067,951

Capital Funds
Share Capital
Deficit
Total Capital Funds

98,255,400
(14,681,520)
83,573,880

98,255,400
(18,108,403)
80,146,997

Grand Total

516,773,298

521,214,948

Statement of Comprehensive Income
2020

2019

20,948,045
1,112,345
2,952,095
25,012,485

23,204,559
4,042,928
5,655,434
32,902,921

1,836,739
23,175,746

1,912,082
30,990,839

4,425,154
1,403,495
4,501
2,779
5,835,929

11,210,073
1,849,218
2,998
168,140
13,230,429

Total Revenues
Provision for probable losses-loans

29,011,675
-

44,221,268
6,769,619

Total Revenue after provision for losses

29,011,675

37,451,649

Non-Interest Expenses
Compensation and benefits
Taxes and licenses
Other operating expenses
Total Non-Interest Expense

10,833,768
1,754,011
11,534,156
24,121,935

10,017,919
2,536,017
15,097,652
27,651,588

4,889,740
1,462,857
3,426,883
3,426,883
6.47

9,800,061
3,444,577
6,355,484
6,355,484
6.47

Interest Income On
Loan and receivables
Bank deposits
Other financial assets at amortized cost
Total
Interest Expense On
Bank deposits
Net Interest Income
Non-Interest Income
Fees and commission income
Income from sale of asset acquired
Gain of disposal of asset
Miscellaneous income
Net Non-Interest Income

Income Before Income Tax
Income Tax Expense
Net Income for the Year
Total Other Comprehensive Income
Total Comprehensive Income for the year
Earnings per Share
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN CAPITAL FUNDS
Authorized
Common
Preferred
Shares
Amount
Shares
Amount
Balance, Dec. 31, 2018
Prior period adjustments
Net income for the year
Balance, Dec. 31 2019
Net income for the year
Balance, Dec. 31, 2020

988,000
988,000
988,000

98,800,000
98,800,000
98,800,000

12,000
12,000
12,000

1,200,000
1,200,000
1,200,000

Subscribed and Paid
Shares
Amount
982,554
982,554
982,554

98,255,400
98,255,400
98,255,400

Surplus/
(Deficit)

Total Equity

(24,566,412)
102,525
6,355,484
(18,108,403)
3,426,883
(14,681,520)

73,688,988
102,525
6,255,484
80,146,997
3,426,883
83,573,880

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
2020
Cash Flows From Operating Activities
Net Income before income tax
Non-cash adjustments to reconcile income before tax:
Provision for probable losses-loans
Provision for probable losses-other assets
Investment property adjustment
Depreciation and amortization
Interest Income
Income from disposal of properties
Prior period adjustment
Operating income before working capital changes
(Increase) Decrease in:
Loan and receivables
Other resources
Increase (Decrease) in:
Deposit Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Cash used in operations
Income Tax Paid
Net cash used in operating activities
Cash Flows From Investing Activities
Acquisitions of property and equipment
Acquisition of debt securities
Proceeds from investment in debt securities
Proceeds from disposal of investment property
Proceeds from disposal of PPE
Interest received
Net cash from (used in) investing activities
Cash Flow From Financing Activity
Deposit for future subscription
Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash
Cash and Cash Equivalents Balance, January 1
Cash and Cash Equivalents Balance, December 31
Cash and Cash Equivalents is composed of the following:
Cash and other cash items
Due from BSP
Due from other banks

2019
4,889,740

9,800,061

1,967,958
(4,064,440)
(1,407,996)
1,385,262

6,769,619
130,000
29,076
2,411,574
(9,698,362)
(1,852,216)
102,525
7,692,277

(19,250,772)
54,052

(80,820,568)
258,163

(7,183,521)
53,274
(24,941,705)
(1,488,255)
(26,429,960)

1,841,563
(1,654,393)
(72,682,958)
(634,900)
(73,317,858)

(1,722,141)
(65,615,294)
75,289,131
2,104,201
3,251,552
13,307,749

(545,276)
(70,621,454)
3,101,502
2,214,673
7,758,690
(58,091,865)

100,000

-

(13,022,211)
94,695,584
81,673,373

(131,409,723)
226,105,307
94,695,584

2,612,553
16,951,653
62,109,167
81,673,373

2,952,833
17,059,116
74,683,635
94,695,584
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1. Corporate Information
Metro Cebu Public Savings Bank (Formerly: Talisay Public Savings and Loan Association, Inc.) ("the Bank"), a thrift bank, was incorporated and
registered with the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) on March 15, 1979 as Talisay Public Savings and Loan Association, Inc. On
March 14, 1987, the Board of Directors and the Bank's stockholders approved a resolution to change its corporate name to Metro Cebu Public
Savings Bank, Inc. On July 27, 1989, the SEC approved such amendment.
The Bank was incorporated primarily to engage in the business of a Savings and Loan Association as authorized under R.A. 3779, as amended,
such as to grant loans and to receive deposit from the general public, and to pay interest on such deposits at such rates as may be prescribed
under regulations as approved by the Monetary Board from time to time.
The Bank has two (2) branches in Cebu province – Bacalso branch and Lapu-Lapu branch. Its registered office and principal place of business
is at Tabunok, Talisay City, Cebu.
On April 12, 2021, the Board of Directors approved the financial statements and authorized them for issue.
2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
- A new chapter on measurement;
- Guidance on reporting financial performance;
- Improved definitions of an asset and a liability, and
guidance supporting these definitions; and
- Clarifications in important areas, such as the roles of
stewardship, prudence and measurement uncertainty in
financial reporting.

The significant accounting policies that have been used in the preparation of
these financial statements are summarized below. The policies have been
consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.
2.1.

Basis of Preparation of Financial Statements

a. Presentation of Financial Statements
The accompanying financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
Philippine Financial Reporting Standards, as modified by the application of the
following financial reporting relief by the Bangko Sentral ng Pilipinas and
approved by the Securities and Exchange Commission in response to the
COVID19 pandemic:


Staggered booking of allowance for credit losses over a maximum period
of five years;

The reliefs cover only current-year transactions or events and do not impact the
comparative period/s.
b. Functional and Presentation Currency
These financial statements are presented in Philippine pesos, the Bank’s
functional and presentation currency, and all values represent absolute amounts
except when otherwise indicated. Items included in the financial statements of
the Bank are measured using its functional currency. Functional currency is the
currency of the primary economic environment in which the Bank operates.
2.2.

Changes in Accounting Policies and Disclosures

a. New and Amended Standards
The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous
financial years, except that the Bank has adopted the following new and
amended PFRS, PAS and annual improvements effective as of January 1, 2020.


Some Standards, their accompanying documents and PFRS
practice statements contain references to, or quotations from,
the International Accounting Standards Committee (IASC)’s
Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial
Statements adopted by the International Accounting Standards
Board (IASB) in 2001 or the Conceptual Framework for
Financial Reporting issued in 2010. The amendments update
some of these references and quotations so that they refer to
the 2018 Conceptual Framework, and makes other
amendments to clarify which version of the Conceptual
Framework is referred to in particular documents.
The amendments do not have a significant impact on the
Bank’s financial condition and performance.


Amendments to PAS 1, Presentation of Financial
Statements and PAS 8, Accounting Policies Changes in
Accounting Estimates and Errors, Definition of Material

The amendments refine the definition of material in PAS 1 and
align the definitions used across PFRSs and other
pronouncements. They are intended to improve the
understanding of the existing requirements rather than to
significantly impact an entity’s materiality judgments.
An entity applies those judgments prospectively for annual
reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2020, with
earlier application permitted.

Amendments to References to Conceptual Framework in PFRS Standards

This sets out amendments to PFRS Standards, their accompanying documents
and PFRS practice statements to reflect the issuance of the revised Conceptual
Framework for Financial Reporting in 2018 (2018 Conceptual Framework). The
2018 Conceptual Framework includes:

The amendments do not have a significant impact on the
Bank’s financial condition and performance.
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Amended Standard not Applicable to the Bank

2.4.

The following amendment is effective as of January 1, 2020 but is not
applicable to the Bank:

Cash includes cash on hand and in banks and is stated at its face
value. Cash equivalents are short-term, highly liquid investments that
are readily convertible to known amount of cash with original maturities
of three months or less from the dates of acquisition and are subject to
an insignificant risk of change in value. Cash is unrestricted from being
exchanged or used to settle a liability for at least 12 months after the
end of the reporting period.



Amendments to PFRS 3, Definition of a Business

New and Amended Standards Effective Subsequent to 2020 but not
Applicable to the Bank
The following new and amended standards are effective subsequent
to 2020 but do not apply to the Bank:





2.3.

PFRS 17, Insurance Contracts
Amendments to PFRS 10, Consolidated Financial Statements,
and PAS 28, Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor
and its Associate or Joint Venture
Amendments to PAS 16, Property, Plant and Equipment
(Proceeds before Intended Use)
Amendments to PFRS 16, Leases (COVID-19 Related
Concessions)
Fair Value Measurement

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants
at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the
presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability
takes place either:



In the principal market for the asset or liability, or
In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous
market for the asset or liability.

The principal or most advantageous market must be accessible to the
Bank.
The fair value of an asset or liability is measured using assumptions
that market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability,
assuming the market participants act in their best economic interest.
A fair value measurement of a nonfinancial asset takes into account a
market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using the
asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market
participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.
The Bank uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the
circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to measure
fair value, maximizing the use of relevant observable inputs and
minimizing the use of unobservable inputs.
All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed
in the consolidated financial statements are categorized within the fair
value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input
that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:




Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities;
Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1
that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e.
as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices); and
Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on
observable market data (unobservable inputs).

For assets and liabilities that are recognized in the financial statements
on a recurring basis, the Bank determines whether transfers have
occurred between levels in the hierarchy be re-assessing
categorization (based on the lowest level input that is significant to the
fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting
period.
For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Bank has determined
classes of assets and liabilities on the basis of nature, characteristics
and risks of the assets and liability and the level of fair value hierarchy.

2.5.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Financial Assets
Measurement

–

Recognition,

Classification

and

Trade receivables and debt instruments issued are initially recognized
when they are originated. All other financial assets and financial
liabilities are initially recognized when the Bank becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the instrument.
A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable without a significant
financing component) is measured at fair value plus, for an item not at
FVPL, transaction costs that are directly attributable to its acquisition
or issue. A trade receivable without a significant financing component
is initially measured at transaction price.
a. Classification and Recognition
On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as measured at:
amortized cost, FVOCI or FVPL.
The classification depends on the entity’s business model for
managing the financial assets and the contractual terms of the cash
flows.
For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will either be
recorded in profit or loss or OCI. For investments in equity instruments
that are not held for trading, this will depend on whether the Bank has
made an irrevocable election at the time of initial recognition to account
for the equity investment at fair value through other comprehensive
income (FVOCI).
The Bank reclassifies debt investments when and only when its
business model for managing those assets changes.
Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognized
on trade-date, the date on which the Bank commits to purchase or sell
the asset.
b. Measurement
At initial recognition, the Bank measures a financial asset at its fair
value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through
profit or loss (FVPL), transaction costs that are directly attributable to
the acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs of financial
assets carried at FVPL are expensed in profit or loss.
Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in their
entirety when determining whether their cash flows are solely payment
of principal and interest.
For debt instruments, subsequent measurement depends on the
Bank’s business model for managing the asset and the cash flow
characteristics of the asset.
Debt Instruments: Amortized Cost
Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows where
those cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest
are measured at amortized cost. Interest income from these financial
assets is included in finance income using the effective interest rate
method. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition is recognized directly
in profit or loss and presented in other gains/(losses) together with
foreign exchange gains and losses. Impairment losses are presented
as separate line item in the statement of profit or loss.
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Debt Instruments: FVOCI
Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows and for
selling the financial assets, where the assets’ cash flows represent
solely payments of principal and interest, are measured at FVOCI.
Movements in the carrying amount are taken through OCI, except for
the recognition of impairment gains or losses, interest income and
foreign exchange gains and losses which are recognized in profit or
loss. When the financial asset is derecognized, the cumulative gain or
loss previously recognized in OCI is reclassified from equity to profit or
loss and recognized in other gains/losses. Interest income from these
financial assets is included in finance income using the effective
interest rate method. Foreign exchange gains and losses are
presented in other gains/losses and impairment expenses are
presented as separate line item in the statement of profit or loss.

are charged to profit or loss except for those which are capitalized as
part of the cost of a qualifying asset, on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method and are added to the carrying amount of the
instrument to the extent that they are not settled in the period in which
they arise. The Bank has no interest-bearing loans in 2020 and 2019.
Financial liabilities are classified as current liabilities if payment is due
to be settled within one year or less after the end of the reporting period
(or in the normal operating cycle of the business, if longer), or the Bank
does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability
for at least twelve months after the end of the reporting period.
Otherwise, these are presented as noncurrent liabilities.
Redeemable Preferred Shares
The Bank’s redeemable preferred shares have the characteristics of a
liability and are thus recognized as a liability in the statement of
financial condition.

Debt Instruments: FVPL
2.7.
Assets that do not meet the criteria for amortized cost or FVOCI are
measured at FVPL. A gain or loss on a debt investment that is
subsequently measured at FVPL is recognized in profit or loss and
presented net within other gains/(losses) in the period in which it arises.
Equity Instruments
The Bank subsequently measures all equity investments at fair value.
Where the Bank’s management has elected to present fair value gains
and losses on equity investments in OCI, there is no subsequent
reclassification of fair value gains and losses to profit or loss following
the derecognition of the investment. Dividends from such investments
continue to be recognized in profit or loss as other income when the
Bank’s right to receive payments is established. Changes in the fair
value of financial assets at FVPL are recognized in other
gains/(losses0 in the statement of profit or loss as applicable.
Impairment losses (and reversal of impairment losses) on equity
investments measured at FVOCI are not reported separately from
other changes in fair value.
2.6.

Financial Liabilities – Recognition, Classification and
Measurement

Financial Liabilities are either classified as financial liabilities through
profit or loss or other financial liabilities.
The Bank’s financial liabilities are categorized under financial liabilities
at amortized cost – net and other financial liabilities.
Other financial liabilities include deposit liabilities, bills payable,
accounts payable and accrued expenses (excluding government and
other statutory liabilities) and redeemable preferred shares.
Financial liabilities are recognized when the Bank becomes a party to
the contractual agreements of the instrument. All interest related
charges are recognized as an expense in the statement of
comprehensive income under the caption Financing Costs, except
those directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production
of a qualifying asset which are capitalized as part of the cost of that
asset.
Financial liabilities are recognized initially at fair value. Transaction
costs are included in the initial measurement of all financial assets and
liabilities.

Derecognition of Financial Assets and Liabilities

a. Financial Assets
A financial asset is derecognized when (a) the rights to receive cash
flows from the asset have expired, (b) the Bank retains the right to
receive cash flows from the assets, but has assumed an obligation to
pay them in full without material delay to a third party under a ‘passthrough’ arrangement, or (c) the Bank has transferred its rights to
receive cash flows from the asset and either has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the
asset, but has transferred control of the asset.
Where the Bank has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an
asset or has entered into a ‘pass-through’ arrangement and has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the
asset nor transferred control of the asset, the asset is recognized to the
extent of the Bank’s continuing involvement in the asset. Continuing
involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred
asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying amount of the
asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the Bank could
be required to repay.
b. Financial Liabilities
A financial liability is recognized when the obligation under the liability
is discharged, cancelled or has expired. Where an existing financial
liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially
different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially
modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a
derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new
liability, and the difference in the respective carrying amounts is
recognized in the statement of comprehensive income.
2.8.

Impairment of Financial Assets

The Bank recognizes loss allowances for ECLs on financial assets
measured at amortized cost.
The Bank measures loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime
ECLs, except for the following, which are measured at 12-month ECLs:
-

After initial recognition, these liabilities are subsequently measured at
amortized cost using the effective interest rate method. Amortized cost
is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on the
issue and fees that are an integral part of the effective interest rate.
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings are raised for support working
capital requirements of the Bank. They are recognized at proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs. Finance charges, including
premiums payable on settlement or redemption and direct issue costs,

debt securities that are determined to have low credit risk at the
reporting date; and
other debt securities and bank balances for which credit risk
(i.e. the risk of default occurring over the expected life of the
financial instrument) has not increased significantly since initial
recognition

Loss allowances for other receivables are always measured at an
amount equal to lifetime ECLs.
When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has
increased significantly since initial recognition and when estimating
ECLs, the Bank considers reasonable and supportable information that
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is relevant and available without undue cost or effort. This includes both
quantitative and qualitative information and analysis, based on the
Bank’s historical experience and informed credit assessment and
including forward-looking information.
The Bank assumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has
increased significantly if it is more than 30 days past due.
The Bank considers a financial asset to be in default when:
- the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Bank in
full, without recourse by the Bank to actions such as realizing
security (if any is held); or
- one principal amortization or interest is not paid when due
The Bank considers a debt security to have low credit risk when its
credit risk rating is equivalent to the globally understood definition of
‘investment grade’.
Lifetime ECLs are the portion of ECLs that result from default events
that are possible within the 12 months after the reporting date (or a
shorter period if the expected life of the instrument is less than 12
months).
The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is the
maximum contractual period over which the Bank is exposed to credit
risk.
Lost allowances for financial assets measured at amortized cost are
deducted from the gross carrying amount of the assets.
For debt securities at FVOCI, the loss allowance is charged to profit or
loss and is recognized in OCI.
Measurement of ECLs
ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit losses
are measured as the present value of all cash shortfalls (i.e. the
difference between the cash flows due to the entity in accordance with
the contract and the cash flows that the Bank expects to receive).

Write-off
The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written off when the
Bank has no reasonable expectations of recovering a financial asset in
its entirety or a portion thereof. The bank individually makes an
assessment with respect to the timing and amount of write-off based
on whether there is a reasonable expectation of recovery. The Bank
expects no significant recovery from the amount written off. However,
financial assets that are written off could still be subject to enforcement
activities in order to comply with the Bank’s procedures for recovery of
amounts due.
2.9.

Offsetting Financial Instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount
reported in the statement of financial condition if, and only if, there is a
currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognized amounts and
there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realize the asset and
settle the liability simultaneously. This is not generally the case with
master netting agreements, and the related assets and liabilities are
presented at gross in the statement of financial condition.
2.10. Reclassification of Financial Instruments
A financial asset is reclassified out of the FVPL category when the
following conditions are met:



the financial asset is no longer held for the purpose of selling
or repurchasing it in the near term; and
there is a rare circumstance.

A financial asset that is reclassified out of the FVPL category is
reclassified at its fair value on the date of reclassification. Any gain or
loss already recognized in the statement of comprehensive income is
not reversed, the fair value of the financial asset on the date of
reclassification becomes its new cost or amortized cost, as applicable.
The Bank did not reclassify its financial instruments in 2020 and 2019.
2.11. Bank Premises, Furniture and Fixtures, and Equipment

ECLs are discounted at the effective interest rate of the financial asset.
Credit-impaired Financial Assets
At each reporting date, the Bank assesses whether financial assets
carried at amortized cost and debt securities at FVOCI are creditimpaired. A financial asset is ‘credit-impaired’ when one or more events
that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of
the financial asset have occurred.
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the following
observable data:
- significant financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer;
- a breach of contract such as default of one principal amortization
or interest;
- the restructuring of a loan or advance by the Bank on terms that
the Bank would not consider otherwise;
- it is probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other
financial reorganization; or
- the disappearance of an active market of a security because of
financial difficulties.
Restructured Loans
The Bank seeks to restructure loans where possible, rather than take
possession of collateral. This may involve extending the payment
arrangements and the agreement of new loan conditions. Once the
terms have been renegotiated, the loan is no longer considered past
due. The Bank continuously reviews restructured loans to ensure that
all criteria are met and that future payments are likely to occur. The
loans continue to be subject to an individual or collective impairment
assessment, calculated using the loan’s original interest rate. The
difference between the recorded value of the original loan and the
present value of the restructured cash flows, discounted at the original
effective interest rate, recognized in profit or loss.

Bank premises, furniture, fixtures and equipment are carried at
acquisition cost less subsequent depreciation, amortization and
impairment losses. Land is stated at cost less any impairment in value.
The cost of an asset comprises its purchase price and directly
attributable cost of bringing the asset to working condition and location
for its intended use. Expenditures for additions, major improvements
and renewals are capitalized; expenditures for repairs and
maintenance are charged to expense as incurred.
Depreciation of bank premises, furniture, fixtures and transportation
equipment commences once the assets are available for use and is
computed using the straight-line method over the following estimated
useful lives of the depreciable assets, as follows:
Information technology equipment
Furniture and fixtures
Transportation equipment
Other office equipment

-

3 to 5 years
3 to 5 years
3 to 5 years
3 to 5 years

Leasehold improvements are amortized over 5-10 years or the term of
the lease, whichever is shorter.
An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to tis
recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its
estimated recoverable amount. The recoverable amount of the bank
premises, furniture, fixtures and transportation equipment is the higher
between the fair value less cost of disposal and value in use.
The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation and
amortization method of property and equipment are reviewed at each
year end, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on
a prospective basis.
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An item of bank premises, furniture, fixtures and transportation
equipment, including the related accumulated depreciation,
amortization and impairment losses, is derecognized upon disposal or
when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or
disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset
(calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and
the carrying amount of the asset) is included in profit or loss in the year
the asset is derecognized.
Fully depreciated and amortized bank premises, furniture, fixtures and
transportation equipment are retained in the accounts until they are no
longer in use and no further depreciation and amortization are charged
to current operations.
2.12. Real and Other Properties Acquired
Real and Other Properties Acquired (ROPA) in settlement of loans
through foreclosure or dation in payment shall be booked initially at the
carrying amount of the loan (i.e. outstanding loan balance adjusted for
any unamortized premium or discount less allowance for probable
losses computed on PFRS 9 provisioning requirements) plus booked
accrued interest less allowance for probable losses plus transaction
costs incurred upon acquisition. Provided that if the carrying amount
exceeds the appraised value of the acquired property, an allowance for
probable losses equivalent to excess of the amount booked over the
appraised value shall be set up.
The carrying amount of ROPA shall be allocated to land, building, other
non-financial assets and financial assets based on their fair values,
which allocated carrying amounts shall become their initial costs.
Subsequently, ROPA shall be accounted for as follows:
(a) Land and building shall be accounted for using the cost model
under PAS 40, Investment Property.
(b) Other non-financial assets shall be accounted for using the cost
model under PAS 16, Property Plant and Equipment.
(c) Buildings and other non-financial assets shall be depreciated
over a period not exceeding ten years and three years,
respectively.
(d) Land, buildings and other non-financial assets shall be subject
to the impairment provisions of PAS 36, Impairment.
(e) Financial assets shall be classified in accordance with the
provisions of PFRS 9, Financial Instruments
(f) ROPA that comply with the provision of PFRS 5, Non-Current
Assets Held for Sale shall be reclassified and accounted for as
such.
2.13. Investment Property
Investment properties are measured initially at cost, including
transaction costs. An investment property acquired through an
exchange transaction is measured at fair value of the asset acquired
unless the fair value of such an asset cannot be reliably measured in
which case the investment property acquired is measured at the
carrying amount of asset given up. Any gain or loss on exchange is
recognized in the statement of income under ‘Income from sale of
investment property’.
Foreclosed properties are classified under ‘Investment Properties’
upon:




entry of judgment in case of judicial foreclosure;
execution of the Sheriff’s Certificate of Sale in case of extrajudicial foreclosure; or
notarization of the Deed of Dacion in case of payment in kind
(dacion in pago).

Foreclosed assets may be redeemed by the mortgagor within a certain
period. All expenses incurred in the litigation/foreclosure of the
properties are charged to operations. Holding costs subsequent to the
foreclosure or acquisition of the properties are also charged to
operations incurred.

An allowance for possible future losses from subsequent disposal of
acquired properties is set up based on the recommendation of Bangko
Sentral ng Pilipinas examiners and/or management’s appraisal in case
the estimated value of the asset is clearly below its carrying cost.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are carried at
cost less accumulated depreciation (for depreciable investment
properties) and any impairment in value.
Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis using the remaining
useful lives from the time of acquisition of the depreciable investment
properties ranging from 10 to 25 years.
Investment properties are derecognized when they have either been
disposed of or when the investment property is permanently withdrawn
from use and no future benefit is expected from its disposal. Any gains
or losses on the retirement or disposal of an investment property are
recognized in the statement of income under ‘Net gain on sale or
exchange of assets’ in the period of retirement or disposal.
Expenditures incurred after the investment properties have been put
into operations, such as repairs and maintenance costs, are normally
charged against income in the period in which the costs are incurred.
Transfers are made to investment properties when, and only when,
there is a change in use evidenced by ending of owner occupation,
commencement of an operating lease to another party or ending of
construction or development. Transfers are made from investment
properties when, and only when, there is a change in use evidenced
by commencement of owner occupation or commencement of
development with a view to sale.
2.14. System Software
System software includes acquired software licenses used in the
operations and administration and are accounted for under the cost
model. The cost of the asset is the amount of cash or cash equivalents
paid for the fair value of the other considerations given to acquire an
asset at the time of its acquisition. Capitalized software costs are
amortized on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life (10
years) as these intangible assets are considered finite. In addition,
system software is also subject to impairment testing as described in
Note 2.15.
Acquired system software licenses are capitalized on the basis of the
costs incurred to acquire and install the specific software. Costs
associated with maintaining system software are expensed as
incurred.
2.15. Other Resources
Other assets pertain to other resources controlled by the Bank as a
result of past events. They are recognize din the financial statements
when it is probable that the future economic benefits will flow to the
entity and the asset has a cost or value that can be measured reliably.
Other recognized assets of similar nature, where future economic
benefits are expected to flow to the Bank beyond one year after the
end of the reporting period (or in the normal operating cycle of the
business, if longer) are classified as non-current assets.
2.16. Impairment of Nonfinancial Assets
At the end of each reporting period, the Bank reviews the carrying
amounts of its nonfinancial assets to determine whether there is any
indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any
such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated
in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Where
it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual
asset, the Bank estimates the recoverable amount of the cashgenerating unit to which the asset belongs. Where a reasonable and
consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are
also allocated to individual cash-generating units, or otherwise they are
allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units for which a
reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified.
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For purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the
lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows
(cash-generating units). As a result, some assets are tested
individually for impairment and some are tested at cash generating unit
level.
Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and
value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future cash
flows have not been adjusted.
If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of
the asset (or cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable
amount. An impairment loss is recognized immediately in profit or loss,
unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case
the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease.
Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount
of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognized for the asset (or
cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognized immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is
carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the
impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase.
No impairment of nonfinancial assets was recognized in 2020 and
2019.
2.17. Capital Funds
The Bank has issued par value capital stock that is classified as equity.
Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new capital stock
are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.
When the Bank issues its par value shares, the proceeds shall be
credited to the “Share Capital” account in the Bank’s statement of
financial condition to the extent of the par value, with any excess being
reflected as “Additional paid-in-capital” account in the Bank’s statement
of financial condition.
Where such shares are subsequently reissued, any consideration
received, net of any directly attributable incremental transaction costs
and the related tax effects, is included in equity attributable to the equity
holders of the Bank.
Surplus includes all current and prior period results as disclosed in the
statement of comprehensive income, reduced by the amount of
dividend declared. The appropriated portion represents the amount
which is not available for distribution.
Other comprehensive income comprises items of income and expense,
including reclassification adjustments that are not recognized in profit
or loss as required by other PFRS.
2.18. Revenue and Cost Recognition
Revenue is measured based on the consideration to which the Bank
expects to be entitled in a contract with a customer and excludes
amounts collected on behalf of third parties. The Bank recognizes
revenue when it transfers control over a good or service to a customer.
The Bank assesses its revenue arrangements against specific criteria
to determine if it is acting as a principal or agent. The Bank has
concluded that it is acting as principal in all of its revenue
arrangements. The following specific recognition criteria must also be
met before revenue is recognized:

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortized cost of a financial asset or a financial liability and of
allocating the interest income or interest expense over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through
the expected life of the financial instrument or, when appropriate,
a shorter period to the net carrying amount of the financial asset
or financial liability. When calculating the effective interest rate,
the Bank estimates cash flows considering all contractual terms
of the financial instrument but does not consider future credit
losses. The calculation includes all fees paid or received
between parties to the contract that are an integral part of the
effective interest rate, transaction costs and all other premiums
or discounts.
When a loan becomes past due, interest, penalties and
surcharges are recognized by the Bank only upon collection.
Once the financial asset or a group of similar financial assets has
been written down as a result of an impairment loss, interest
income is recognized using the rate of interest used to discount
the future cash flows for the purpose of measuring the
impairment loss.
(i) Service charges, fees and commissions are generally
recognized on an accrual basis when the service has been
provided. Commission and fees arising from negotiating, or
participating in the negotiation of, a transaction for a third party
are recognized on completion of the underlying transaction.
Other service fees are recognized based on the applicable
service contracts, usually on a time-appropriate basis.
(ii) Revenue attributable to the sale of investment property,
exclusive of interest, is recognized at the date of sale, except
when it is not probable that the economic benefits will flow to the
Bank until the consideration is received or until an uncertainty is
removed. The sale is the present value of the consideration,
determined by discounting the installments receivable at the
imputed rate of interest. The interest element is recognized as
revenue as it is earned, using the effective interest method.
(iii) Income from other sources is accounted based on the actual
amount received or earned.
Costs and expenses are decreases in economic benefits during the
accounting period in the form of outflows or decreases in equity, other
than those relating to distributions to equity participants. Costs and
expenses are recognized in the statement of comprehensive income in
the period these are incurred.
2.19. Employee Benefits
The Bank has issued par value capital stock that is classified as equity.
Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new capital stock
are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.
a. Defined Benefit Plan
A defined benefit plan is a pension plan that is not a defined
contribution plan. Typically defined benefit plans define an amount of
pension benefit that an employee will receive on retirement, usually
dependent on one or more factors such as age, years of service and
compensation.
The Bank has a funded non-contributory pension plan for retirement,
resignation and disability benefits covering all its regular full-time
employees. The plan is registered with the Bureau of Internal Revenue
under R.A. No. 4917 (Note 18.2)
b. Employee Leave Entitlement

(iv) Interest income is recognized in the statement of comprehensive
income for all instruments measured using the effective interest
method.

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognized as a liability
when they are accrued to the employees. The undiscounted liability for
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leave expected to be settled wholly before twelve months after the end
of the annual reporting period is recognized for services rendered by
employees up to the end of the reporting period.
2.20. Leases
The Bank determines whether an arrangement is, or contains, a lease
based on the substance of the arrangement and requires an
assessment of whether the fulfillment of the arrangement is dependent
on the use of a specific asset or assets and the arrangement conveys
a right to use the asset.
Bank as Lessee
Payments associated with short-term leases and all leases of lowvalue assets are recognized on a straight-line basis as an expense in
profit or loss. Short-term leases are leases with a lease term of 12
months or less. Variable lease payments which are based on future
sales or consumption are recognized as rent expense in the period
incurred.
2.21. Taxes
b. Current
Current tax assets or liabilities comprise those claims from, or
obligations to, fiscal authorities relating to the current or prior reporting
period, that are uncollected or unpaid at the end of the reporting date.
They are calculated according to the tax rates and tax laws applicable
to the fiscal periods to which they relate, based on the taxable profit for
the year. All changes to current tax assets or liabilities are recognized
as a component of tax expense in the statement of comprehensive
income.
c. Deferred
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are provided, using the balance sheet
liability method, on all temporary differences at the end of the reporting
period between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying
amounts for financial reporting purposes.
Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary
differences, including asset revaluations. Deferred income tax assets
are recognized for all deductible temporary differences, carryforward
benefits of unused tax credits from excess minimum corporate income
tax (MCIT) over the regular corporate income tax (RCIT) and unused
tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be
available against which the deductible temporary differences and
carryforward benefits of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can
be utilized.
Deferred tax, however, is not recognized when it arises from the initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss. In respect of taxable
temporary differences associated with investment in a subsidiary,
deferred income tax liability is not recognized where the timing of the
reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is
probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.
The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all
or part of the deferred income tax asset to be utilized. Unrecognized
deferred income tax assets are reassessed at the end of each reporting
period and are recognized to the extent that it has become probable
that future taxable profit will allow the deferred income tax assets to be
recovered.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply to the period when the assets are realized or the
liabilities are settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted at the end of each reporting period.

Income tax relating to items recognized directly in equity is recognized in
equity and not in the statement of income.
Deferred income tax assets and deferred income tax liabilities are offset, if a
legally enforceable right exists to set off current income tax assets against
current income tax liabilities and the deferred income taxes relate to the
same taxable entity and the same taxation authority.
a. Percentage Tax
The Bank is registered as a percentage entity. Accordingly the Bank’s
interest, commissions and discounts from lending activities on the basis of
remaining maturities of instrument and other income is subject to one (1%),
five (5%) and seven (7%) percentage tax.
2.22. Related Party Transactions
A party is related to the Bank if it has direct or indirect control or is controlled
by an entity whether parent or subsidiary, if it has interest in the Bank that
gives its significant influence over the Bank and if it is a member of the key
management personnel of the Bank.
PAS 24 provides additional guidance and clarity in the scope of the standard,
the definitions and disclosures for related parties. It also requires disclosure
of the compensation of key management personnel by benefit type.
2.23. Provisions
Provisions are recognized when present obligations will probably lead to an
outflow of economic resources and they can be estimated reliably even if the
timing or amount of the outflow may still be uncertain. A present obligation
arises from the presence of a legal or constructive commitment that has
resulted from past events.
Provisions are measured at the estimated expenditure required to settle the
present obligation, based on the most reliable evidence available at the end
of the reporting period, including the risks and uncertainties associated with
the present obligation. Where there are a number of similar obligations, the
likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by
considering the class of obligations as a whole. When time value of money
is material, long-term provisions are discounted to their present values using
a pretax rate that reflects market assessments and the risks specific to the
obligation. The increase in the provision due to passage of time is recognized
as interest expense. Provisions are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate.
In cases those where the possible outflow of economic resource as a result
of present obligations is considered improbable or remote, or the amount to
be provided for cannot be measured reliably, no liability is recognized in the
financial statements. Similarly, possible inflows of economic benefits to the
Bank that do not yet meet the recognition criteria of an asset are considered
contingent assets, hence, are not recognized in the financial statements. On
the other hand, any reimbursement that the Bank can be virtually certain to
collect from a third party with respect to the obligation is recognized as a
separate asset not exceeding the amount of the related provision.
The Bank has no provisions requiring disclosure as of December 31, 2020
and 2019.
2.24. Contingencies
Contingent liabilities are not recognized in the financial statements. They are
disclosed unless the possibility of an outflow or resources embodying
economic benefits is remote. A contingent asset is not recognized in the
financial statements but disclosed when an inflow of economic benefits is
probable.
The Bank has no contingencies requiring disclosure as of December 31,
2020 and 2019.
2.25. Events After End of Reporting Period
Post year-end events that provide additional information about the Bank’s
position at the end of each reporting period (adjusting events) are reflected
in the financial statements. Post year-end events that are not adjusting
events are disclosed in the notes to financial statements when material.
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2.26. Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and
Errors
PAS 8 removes the concept of fundamental error and the allowed
alternative to retrospective application of voluntary changes in
accounting policies and retrospective restatement of correct prior
period errors. It defines material omission or misstatements, and
describes how to apply the concept of materiality when applying
accounting policies and correcting errors.
2.27. Earnings Per Common Share
Earnings per common share is determined by dividing net income for
the year by the weighted average number of common shares issued
and outstanding at the end of the year.
Earnings per share is computed as:
Net Income
Divided by the weighted average
number of subscribed common shares
Earnings per share

2020
3,426,883

2019
6,355,484

982,554
3.49

982,554
6.47

3. Significant Accounting Judgments and Estimates
The Bank’s financial statements prepared in accordance with PFRS
require management to make judgments and estimates that affect
amounts reported in the financial statements and related notes.
Judgments and estimates are continually evaluated and are based on
historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future
events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.
3.1.

Judgments

Post year-end events that provide additional information about the
Bank’s position at the end of each reporting period (adjusting events)
are reflected in the financial statements. Post year-end events that are
not adjusting events are disclosed in the notes to financial statements
when material.
In the process of applying the Bank’s accounting policies, management
has made the following judgments, apart from those involving
estimation, which have the most significant effect on the amounts
recognized in the financial statements:
a. Determination of the Bank’s Functional Currency
The Bank, based on the relevant economic substance of the underlying
circumstances, has determined its functional currency to be the
Philippine peso. It is the currency that mainly influences the Bank’s
revenue and costs and expenses.

differ from those estimates. The following are the relevant estimates
performed by management on its December 31, 2020 and 2019 financial
statements:
a. Impairment of Financial Assets
The measurement of impairment losses under PFRS 9 across all
categories of financial assets requires judgment, in particular, the
estimation of the amount and timing of future cash flows, including
collectability, collateral values and other credit enhancements, when
determining impairment losses. Increases or decreases to the allowance
balance are recorded as part of operating expenses in the statements
of comprehensive income.
Under PFRS 9, additional judgments are also made in assessing a
significant increase in credit risk in the case of financial assets measured
using the general approach. These estimates are driven by a number of
factors, changes in which can result in different levels of allowances.
The Bank’s impairment calculations are outputs of statistical models with
a number of underlying assumptions regarding the choice of variable
inputs and their interdependencies.
The estimates used in arriving at the expected credit loss is detailed in
Note 4.
b. Useful Lives of Bank Premises, Leasehold Improvements, Furniture
and Equipment
The Bank estimates the useful lives of Bank premises, leasehold
improvements, furniture and equipment based on the period over which
the assets are expected to be available for use. The estimated useful
lives of these assets are reviewed periodically and are updated if
expectations differ from previous estimates due to physical wear and
tear, technical or commercial obsolescence and legal or other limits on
the use of the assets. In addition, estimation of the useful lives of Bank
premises, leasehold improvements, furniture, and equipment is based
on collective assessment of industry practice, internal technical
evaluation and expertise with similar assets. It is possible, however, that
future results of operations could be materially affected by changes in
estimates brought about by changes in factors mentioned above. The
amounts and timing of recorded expenses for any period would be
affected by changes in these factors and circumstances. A reduction in
the estimated useful lives of Bank premises, leasehold improvements,
furniture, and equipment would increase recorded operating expenses
and decrease noncurrent assets.
The Bank’s property and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation,
amounted to Php 5,232,145 and Php 4,702,926 as of December 31,
2020 and 2019, respectively (Note 8).

b. Classification of Time Deposits

c. Realizable Amount of Deferred Tax Assets

The Bank classifies time deposits depending on its intention in holding
such financial assets. If the Bank intends to hold such financial assets
to earn interest income until maturity, it classifies such financial assets
as other financial assets at amortized cost. However, if the Bank’s
intention is to hold such financial assets for operational purposes; it
classifies such financial assets as cash equivalents. The Bank holds its
time deposits to earn interest until maturity.

The Bank reviews its deferred tax assets at the end of each reporting
period and reduces the carrying amount to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part
of the deferred tax asset to be utilized.

Cash and cash equivalents amounted to Php 50,561,728 and Php
52,504,883 as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively (Note 5).
c. Provisions and Contingencies
Judgment is exercised by management to distinguish between
provisions and contingencies. Policies on recognition and disclosure of
provision and disclosure of contingencies are discussed in Notes 2.23
and 2.24, respectively.
3.2.

Estimates

The estimates and assumptions used in the financial statements are
based upon management’s evaluation of relevant facts and
circumstances of the Bank’s financial statements. Actual results could

Deferred tax assets were not recognized by the Bank as there is no
certainty that the Bank will generate taxable income exceeding minimum
corporate income tax which the assets can be applied in the next three
years. Starting 2018, the Bank started to generate net income (Note 21).
d. Impairment of Nonfinancial Assets
Except for intangible assets with indefinite useful lives, PFRS requires
that an impairment review be performed when certain impairment
indicators are present. The Bank’s policy on estimating the impairment
of nonfinancial assets is discussed in detail in Note 2.15.though
management believes that the assumptions used in the estimation of fair
values reflected in the financial statements are appropriate and
reasonable, significant changes in these assumptions may materially
affect the assessment of recoverable values and any resulting
impairment loss could have a material adverse effect on the results of
operations.
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industry sector are reviewed and approved by the CC.
No impairment losses on other nonfinancial assets were recognized in
2020 and 2019.

Exposure to credit risk is managed through regular analysis of the ability
of borrowers and potential borrowers to meet interest and capital
repayment obligations and by changing these lending limits when
appropriate. Exposure to credit risk is also managed in part by obtaining
collateral and corporate personal guarantees.

e. Revenue Recognition
The revenue recognition policies require the use of estimates and
assumptions that may affect the reported amounts of the revenues and
receivables.
f.

The exposure to any one borrower including banks and brokers is further
restricted by sublimits covering on-and off-statement of condition
exposures, and daily delivery risk limits in relation to trading items such
as forward foreign exchange contracts. Actual exposures against limits
are monitored daily.

Fair Values of Financial Assets and Liabilities

PFRS requires that certain financial assets and liabilities (including
derivative instruments) be carried at fair value, which requires the use
of accounting estimates. These estimates are detailed in Note 23.

Lending limits are reviewed in the light of changing market and economic
conditions and periodic credit reviews and assessments of probability of
default.

4. Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies

The CC reviews the Bank’s loan portfolio in line with the Bank’s policy
of not having significant unwarranted concentrations of exposure to
individual counterparties, in accordance with the BSP’s prohibitions on
maintaining a financial exposure to any single person or group of
connected persons in excess of 25% of its net worth.

The Bank has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial
instruments:
a. Credit risk
b. Liquidity risk
c. Market risk

With respect to credit risk arising from other financial assets of the Bank,
which comprise of cash and cash equivalents, its exposure to credit risk
arises from the default of the counterparty with a maximum exposure
equal to the carrying value of these instruments. This is mitigated,
however, by the Bank’s policy of placing its funds only in reputable banks
and financial institutions.

This note represents information about the Bank’s exposure to each of
the above risks, the Bank’s objectives, policies and processes for
measuring and managing risk, and the Bank’s management of capital.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is as follows:

By their nature, the Bank’s activities are principally related to the use of
financial instruments. The Bank accepts deposits from customers at
fixed rates, and for various periods, and seeks to earn above-average
interest margins by consolidating short-term funds and lending for longer
periods at higher rates, while maintaining sufficient liquidity to meet all
claims that might fall due.

Due from BSP
Due from other banks
Loans receivables, net of amortized
discount
Investment in bonds
Other financial assets:
Sales contract receivable, net of
amortized discount
Accounts receivable, gross
Accrued interest income
Rental deposit

The Bank’s Credit Committee (CC), which is composed of the Chairman,
President, and Chief Operating Officer, has overall responsibility for the
Bank’s risk management systems and sets risks management policies
across the full range of risks to which the Bank is exposed.
a. Credit Risk
Credit risk is the risk that the counterparty in a transaction may default
and arises from lending, treasury, and other activities undertaken by the
Bank. The Bank manages its credit risk and loan portfolio through the
Credit Committee (CC) which undertakes several functions with respect
to credit risk management. Impairment provisions are provided for
losses that have been incurred at the reporting date. Significant changes
in the economy, or in the health of a particular industry segments that
represents a concentration in the Bank’s portfolio, could result in losses
that are different from those provided for at the reporting date.
Management therefore carefully manages its exposure to credit risk.
The CC undertakes credit analysis and review to ensure consistency in
the Bank’s risk assessment process. It also ensures that the Bank’s
credit policies and procedures are adequate to meet the demands of the
business. The CC is also responsible for developing procedures to
streamline and expedite the processing of credit applications.
The CC also undertakes portfolio management by reviewing the Bank’s
loan portfolio, including the portfolio risks associated with particular
industry sectors, loan size and maturity, and development of a strategy
for the Bank to achieve its desired portfolio mix and risk profile.
Risk limit control and mitigation policies
The Bank structures the levels of credit risk it undertakes by placing
limits on the amount of risk accepted in relation to one borrower, or
groups of borrowers, and to geographical and industry segments. Such
risks are monitored on a revolving basis and subject to an annual or
more frequent review. Limits on the level of credit risk by product and by

2020
16,951,653
62,109,167

2019
17,059,116
74,683,635

333,656,953
98,329,710

314,221,040
108,003,547

589,150
514,134
149,112
34,846
512,334,725

808,619
71,000
557,918
34,846
515,439,721

The distribution of maximum credit exposure by industry sector of the
Bank as of December 31, 2020 and 2019 are as follows:

2020


Financial institutions



Agriculture, forestry
and fishing



Other service
activities
Real estate
activities
Arts, entertainment
and recreation
Construction
Manufacturing
Wholesales and
retail trade, repair of
motor vehicles,
motorcycles
Accommodation
and food service
activities
Activities of
household as
employers;
undifferentiated
goods-servicesproducing activities
of household for
own use
Others












Loans,
receivables,
net of
unamortized
discount

Due from
BSP

Due from
other
banks

Investment
in Bonds

Other
financial
assets

-

16,951,653

62,109,167

98,329,710

-

29,949,831

-

-

-

-

254,882,414

-

-

-

-

22,902,980

-

-

-

-

249,689
1,965,000
5,538,477

-

-

-

-

2,803,339

-

-

-

-

232,855

-

-

-

-

15,132,308
333,656,953

16,951,653

62,109,167

98,329,710

1,287,242
1,287,242

29

2019















Financial institutions
Agriculture, forestry
and fishing
Other service
activities
Real estate
activities
Arts, entertainment
and recreation
Construction
Manufacturing
Wholesales and
retail trade, repair of
motor vehicles,
motorcycles
Accommodation
and food service
activities
Activities of
household as
employers;
undifferentiated
goods-servicesproducing activities
of household for
own use
Others

Loans,
receivables,
net of
unamortized
discount

Other Debt Investments
Due from
BSP

Due from
other
banks

Investment
in Bonds

-

17,059,116

74,683,635

108,003,547

-

33,467,235

-

-

-

-

215,448,713

-

-

-

-

26,517,928

-

-

-

-

284,516
1,965,000
6,449,530

-

-

-

-

2,810,899

-

-

-

-

11,597,057

-

-

Other
financial
assets

-

-

15,680,162

-

-

-

-

314,221,040

17,059,116

74,683,635

108,003,547

1,472,383
1,472,383

Impairment Assessment
The following types of financial assets are subject to the expected credit
loss model of impairment:
a. Loans receivable; and
b. Debt investments at amortized cost
Loans Receivable
The Bank applies the PFRS 9 in accordance with BSP Circular 1011
which allows those BSP supervised financial institutions with simple
operations to adopt simple loan loss methodologies fundamentally
anchored on the principle of recognizing ECL.
To measure the expected credit losses, loans receivables have been
grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics and the days past
due.

The following table presents an analysis of the credit quality of other debt
investments at amortized cost or FVOCI. It indicates whether the debt
investments were subject to a 12-month ECL or lifetime ECL-allowance,
and in the latter case, whether they are credit-impaired.

The distribution of maximum credit exposure by industry sector of the
Bank as of December 31, 2020 and 2019 are as follows:

2020
Financial Assets at
Amortized Cost
 Due from BSP
 Due from Other
Banks
 Investment in
Bonds
 Other financial
assets:
 Sales contract
receivable, net of
amortized cost
 Accounts
Receivable,
gross
 Accrued interest
income
 Rental deposit

2019
Financial Assets at
Amortized Cost
 Due from BSP
 Due from Other
Banks
 Investment in
Bonds
 Other financial
assets:
 Sales contract
receivable, net of
amortized cost
 Accounts
Receivable,
gross
 Accrued interest
income
 Rental deposit

Credit
Rating

Lifetime
ECL –
12-month not credit
ECL
impaired

Lifetime
ECL –
credit
impaired

Total

Loss
Allowance

Net
Carrying
Amount

Performing

16,951,653

-

-

16,951,653

-

16,951,653

Performing

62,109,167

-

-

62,109,167

-

62,109,167

Performing

98,329,710

-

-

98,329,710

-

98,329,710

Performing

589,150

-

-

589,150

-

589,150

Performing

514,134

-

-

514,134

-

514,134

Performing
Performing

149,112
34,846
178,677,772

-

149,112
34,846
- 178,677,772

Credit
Rating

Lifetime
ECL –
12-month not credit
ECL
impaired

Lifetime
ECL –
credit
impaired

Total

149,112
34,846
- 178,677,772

Loss
Allowance

Net
Carrying
Amount

Performing

17,059,116

-

-

17,059,116

-

17,059,116

Performing

74,683,635

-

74,683,635

74,683,635

-

-

Performing 108,003,547

-

- 108,003,547

- 108,003,547

Performing

808,619

-

-

808,619

-

808,619

Performing

71,000

-

-

71,000

-

71,000

Performing
Performing

557,918
34,846
201,218,681

-

557,918
34,846
- 201,218,681

557,918
34,846
- 201,218,681

The following are the assumptions used in the credit rating system of the
Bank:

The expected loss rates are based on the payment profiles of loan over a
period of 3 years before December 31, 2020 and 2019 and the
corresponding historical credit-losses experienced within this period. The
historical loss rates are adjusted to reflect current and forward-looking
information on macroeconomic factors affecting the ability of borrowers to
settle their obligation. The results of this computation are booked as an
additional provision.

Performing financial assets are those that are neither past due nor
impaired with counterparties that have a low risk of default and a strong
capacity to meet contractual cash flows.

Aging of loans receivable as of December 31, 2020 and 2019 are shown
as follows:

Non-performing financial assets shall be considered nonperforming,
even without any missed contractual payments, when it is considered
impaired under existing accounting standards, classified as doubtful or
loss, in litigation, and/or there is evidence that full repayment of principal
and interest is unlikely without foreclosure of collateral, if any. All other
loans, even if not considered impaired, shall be considered
nonperforming if any principal and/or interest are unpaid for more than
ninety (90) days from contractual due date, or accrued interests for more
than ninety (90) days have been capitalized, refinanced or delayed by
agreement.

Past Due
Current
2020

298,381,223

2019

258,991,410

0 to 30
days

31 to 90
days

91 to 180
days

Over 180
days

Total

6,117,933

9,731,092

18,869,722

333,656,953

1,090,620 33,391,533

2,521,972

18,225,505

314,221,040

556,983

Allowance for probable losses are computed based on the BSP Circular
No. 1011 and Bank policy. The Board approves the provisioning for
doubtful accounts and write-off of receivables, which covers, but not
limited to, non-performing loan for more than ten (10) years, deceased,
missing, and insolvent borrowers.

Underperforming financial assets are those counterparties with
significant increase in credit risk, which is presumed if interest/principal
repayments are more than 30 days past due.

The credit rating system takes into account ratings from independent
ratings agencies. In the absence of such, other publicly available
financial information are used.
While cash and cash equivalents are subject to the impairment
requirements of PFRS 9, the identified impairment loss was immaterial
as there have been no history of defaults among the Bank’s depositary
banks.
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There is no expected loss on government securities because it has little
to no risk of default. There is also no expected credit losses accrued
interest income as this pertains to interest on current and performing
loans and management believes that these are fully collectible.
Collateral

The Bank’s financial liabilities as of December 31, 2020 and 2019 have
contractual maturities which are presented as follows:
Current
On
Demand

161,198,515

161,198,515

-

-

-

-

44,693,033

-

-

-

44,693,033

-

Accounts payable

313,251

313,251

-

-

-

-

Accrued expenses

827,062

-

827,062

-

-

-

517,936

-

517,936

-

-

-

- 44,693,033

-

2020

Savings

The principal collateral types for loans and advances are:
 Mortgages over residential and agricultural properties
 Charges over business assets such as premises, inventory and
accounts receivable
 Charges over financial instruments such as debt securities and
equities
Longer-term finance and lending are generally secured; revolving
individual credit facilities are generally unsecured. In addition, in order
to minimize the credit loss the Bank will seek additional collateral from
the counterparty as soon as impairment indicators are identified for the
relevant individual loans and advances.
Collateral held as security for financial assets other than loans and
advances depends on the nature of the instrument. Debt securities,
treasury and other eligible bills are generally unsecured, with the
exception of asset-backed securities and similar instruments, which are
secured by portfolios of financial instruments.
An analysis of the maximum exposure to credit risk after taking into
account any collateral held or other credit enhancements is shown
below as December 31, 2020 and 2019:

Loans and discount
Small and medium
enterprises loans
Agricultural loans

2019
Loans and discount
Small and medium
enterprises loans
Agricultural loans

Within 6 6 to 12
months months

1 to 5
years

More
than 5
years

Deposit Liabilities

The Bank employs a range of policies and practices to mitigate credit
risk. The most traditional of these is the taking of security for funds
advances, which is common practice. The Bank implements guidelines
on the acceptability of specific classes of collateral or credit risk
mitigation.

2020

Noncurrent

Total
Carrying
Value

58,281,105

Financial effect
of collateral or
credit
enhancement
16,098,502

245,426,017
29,949,831
333,656,953

145,979,077
162,077,579

Maximum Credit
Exposure

67,696,060

Financial effect
of collateral or
credit
enhancement
14,803,603

213,057,745
33,467,235
314,221,040

133,275,569
148,079,172

Maximum Credit
Exposure

Net Exposure

42,182,603
99,446,940
29,949,831
171,579,374

Net Exposure

52,892,457
79,782,176
33,467,235
166,141,868

Time

Accrued interest
payable
Redeemable
preferred shares

100,000
100,000
207,649,797 161,611,766 1,344,998

Current
On
Demand

174,365,864

174,365,864

-

-

-

-

38,709,205

-

-

-

38,709,205

-

Accounts payable

271,252

271,252

-

-

-

-

Accrued expenses

834,6312

-

834,6312

-

-

-

519,383
102,373

102,373

519,383

-

-

-

- 38,709,205

-

2019

b. Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that there are insufficient funds available to
adequately meet the credit demands of the Bank’s customers and
repay deposits on maturity. The Bank manages liquidity risk by holding
sufficient liquid assets of appropriate quality to ensure short-term
funding requirements are met. In addition, the Bank seeks to maintain
sufficient liquidity to take advantage of interest rate and exchange rate
opportunities when they arise.

Within 6 6 to 12
months months

1 to 5
years

More
than 5
years

Deposit Liabilities
Savings
Time

Accrued interest
payable
Other Payables
Redeemable
preferred shares

100,000
100,000
214,902,708 174,839,489 1,354,014

The following table details the Bank’s expected maturity for its financial
assets. The table has been drawn up based on the undiscounted
contractual maturities of the financial assets including interest that will
be earned on those assets. The inclusion of information on nonderivative
financial assets is necessary in order to understand the Bank's liquidity
risk management as the liquidity is managed on a net asset and liability
basis.
Current
2020
Cash and other
cash items
Due from BSP

Total
Carrying
Value

On
Demand

Within 6
months

2,612,553 2,612,553
16,951,653 16,951,653

Due from other
banks
62,109,167 11,547,439
Loan receivables,
net
306,601,999 35,275,730
Sales contract
receivable, net
589,150
Accounts
receivable, net
71,000
71,000
Accrued interest
income
557,918
Investment in
bonds
98,329,710
Rental Deposit
34,846
487,857,996 66,458,375

As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Bank does not hold any
collateral or other credit enhancements to cover the credit risks
associated with its due from BSP and other banks, other receivables,
and other financial assets. Hence the carrying values of those financial
assets best represent the maximum exposure to credit risk.

Noncurrent

Total
Carrying
Value

Noncurrent
6 to 12
months

1 to 5
years

-

-

-

-

50,561,728

-

-

-

21,107,665

12,057,602 15,989,229 22,192,773

160,516

160,516

268,118

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

34,846

-

170,717,537

12,218,118 16,271,193 22,192,773

Current
2019
Cash and other
cash items
Due from BSP

Total
Carrying
Value

On
Demand

2,952,833
2,952,833
17,059,116 17,059,116

Due from other
banks
74,683,635 22,178,752
Loan receivables,
net
287,166,086 55,229,630
Sales contract
receivable, net
808,619
Accounts
receivable, net
71,000
71,000
Accrued interest
income
557,918
Investment in
bonds
108,003,547
Rental Deposit
34,846
491,337,600 97,491,331

More
than 5
years

Within 6
months

Noncurrent
6 to 12
months

52,504,883
44,748,536

1 to 5
years

More
than 5
years

-

-

-

-

-

-

25,095,868 148,054,931 14,037,121

160,516

160,516

487,587

-

-

-

-

-

557,918

-

-

-

8,274,719
-

67,014,412
-

37,714,416
34,846

-

106,246,572

92,270,796 181,291,780 14,037,121
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c. Market Risk

Current

The Bank’s exposure to market risk, the risk of future loss from changes
in the price of a financial instrument, relates primarily to its holdings in
debt securities. The Bank manages its risk by identifying, analyzing and
measuring relevant or likely market risks. It recommends various limits
on value-at-risk, stop loss, trading volume and earning-at-risk, to the
Bank’s Credit Committee. The Credit Committee in turn passes its
recommendations to the Board, which reviews and approves these
limits.

2019

The Bank follows a prudent policy in managing its assets and liabilities
to ensure that exposure to fluctuations in interest rates are kept within
acceptable limits.

On
Demand

Within 6
months

Noncurrent

6 to 12
months

1 to 5
years

More than 5
years

Total

Assets
Due from other
banks
Loan receivables,
net
Investment in
bonds
Total

0.25% 6.315%
6.5% 41.40%
6.31% 10%

74,683,635

-

-

-

-

74,683,635

55,229,630 44,909,052 25,256,384 148,542,518

14,037,121 287,974,705

8,274,719 67,014,412 32,714,416
129,913,265 53,183,771 92,270,796 181,256,934

- 108,003,547
14,037,121 470,661,887

Liability
Deposit Liabilities

Interest Rate Risk Sensitivity Analysis

Interest
Rates

38,709,205

- 213,075,069

On Balance Sheet
Gaps
Net Position

0.5%-4.5%

174,365,864

-

-

(44,452,599) 53,183,771 92,270,796 142,547,729

14,037,121 257,586,818

Cumulative gap

(44,452,599)

8,731,172 101,001,967 243,549,697 257,586,818

The method by which the Bank measures the sensitivity of its assets 5. Cash and Other Cash Items
and liabilities to interest rate fluctuations is by way of asset-liability gap
analysis. This analysis provides the Bank with a static view of the
This account consists of:
maturity and repricing characteristics of its statements of conditions. An
interest rate gap report is prepared by classifying all assets and
2020
2019
liabilities into various time year categories according to contracted
Net Income
2,612,553
2,952,833
maturities or anticipated repricing dates, whichever is earlier. The
Due from BSP
16,951,653
17,059,116
difference in the amount of assets and liabilities at maturing or being
Due from Other Banks
62,109,167
74,683,635
repriced in any time year category would then give the Bank an
81,673,373
94,695,584
indication of the extent to which it is exposed to the risk of potential
changes in net interest income.
Due from BSP represents the Bank’s demand deposit with the BSP
in compliance with BSP’s reserve requirements (Note 12), and are
The Bank employs gap analysis to measure the sensitivity of its assets
noninterest bearing. The Bank has satisfactorily complied with the
and liabilities to fluctuations in market interest rates for any given
reserve requirements of BSP.
period. A gap is considered negative when the amount of interest rate
sensitive liabilities exceeds the amount of interest rate sensitive assets.
Due from other banks is composed of the following:
A gap is considered positive when the amount of interest rate assets
exceeds the amount of interest rate sensitive liabilities. Accordingly
2020
2019
during a period of rising interest rates the bank with a positive gap would
Savings deposit
11,547,439
22,178,752
be in a position to invest in higher yielding assets earlier than it would
Time Deposit
50,561,728
52,504,883
need to refinance its interest rate sensitive liabilities. During a period of
62,109,167
74,683,635
falling interest rates, the Bank with a positive gap would tend to see its
interest rates sensitive assets repricing earlier than interest rate
sensitive liabilities, which may restrain the growth of its net profit or
Savings and demand deposits earn annual interest of 0.10% - 1% in
result in decline in net interest income.
2020 and 0.25% - 1% in 2019 while time deposits are placements that
have an average maturity of 90 days and earn interest ranging from
The Bank’s exposure to interest rate risk arises from the following
1% - 3.50% and 1% - 6.315% per annum in 2020 and 2019,
interest-bearing financial instruments:
respectively.
2020
Assets
Due from other banks
Loans and receivables, net*
Investment in bonds
Liabilities
Deposit Liabilities

2019

62,109,167
307,191,149
98,329,710
467,630,026

74,683,635
287,974,705
108,003,547
470,661,887

205,891,548

213,075,069

*loans receivable and sales contract receivables only

The following table sets forth average interest rates and the asset
liability gap position (in million pesos) of the Bank at net amounts as of
December 31, 2020 and 2019.
Current
2020

Interest
Rates

On
Demand

Within 6
months

Noncurrent

6 to 12
months

1 to 5
years

Interest income earned from bank deposits amounted to Php
4,042,928 in 2020 and Php 4,375,450 in 2019 (Note 15).
6. Loans and Receivables
This account consists of:
Loan receivables, net
Accounts receivable, net
Sales contract receivable, net
Accrued interest income

0.10% 6.315%
6.5% 41.40%
6.31% 10%

62,109,167

-

Total

-

-

-

62,109,167

35,275,730 21,268,181 12,218,118

16,236,347

222,192,773 307,191,149

- 98,329,710
97,384,897 119,597,891 12,218,118

16,236,347

- 98,329,710
222,192,773 467,630,026

Liability
Deposit Liabilities

0.5%-5%

161,198,515

-

-

2019
287,166,086
71,000
808,619
557,918
288,603,623

Loans are classified as:

More than 5
years

2020

Assets
Due from other
banks
Loan receivables,
net
Investment in
bonds
Total

2020
306,601,999
514,134
589,150
149,112
307,854,395

44,693,003

- 205,891,548

On Balance Sheet
Gaps
Net Position

(63,813,618) 119,597,891 12,218,118 (28,456,686)

222,192,773 261,738,478

Cumulative gap

(63,813,618) 55,784,273 68,002,391

39,545,705 261,738,478

Loans and discount
SME loans
Agricultural loans
Less: Unamortized
Discount
Loan receivables,
net of discount
Less: Allowance for
probable losses
General loan loss
provision

Percent in
total

2019

Percent to
total

58,312,465
245,426,017
29,949,831
333,688,313

17.48%
73.56%
8.98%
100.01%

68,107,978
213,057,745
33,467,235
314,632,958

21.67%
67.81%
10.65%
100.13%

(31,360)

(0.01%)

(411,918)

(0.13%)

333,656,953

100.00%

314,221,040

100.00%

(24,465,040)

(24,465,040)

(2,589,914)
306,601,999

(2,589,914)
287,166,086
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Past Due Loans
Past due loans of a bank shall, as a general rule, refer to all accounts
in its loan portfolio, all receivable components of trading account
securities and other receivables, which are not paid at maturity.

Nonperforming loans, investments, receivables, or any financial asset
shall remain classified as such until (a) there is sufficient evidence to
support that full collection of principal and interests is probable and
payments of interest and/or principal are received for at least six (6)
months; or (b) written-off.
Nonperforming loans amounted to Php 8,869,722 in 2020 and 2019.

BSP Manual of Regulations for Banks, Sec. X304 defined the
classification of past due loans when any principal and/or interest or
installment due, or portions thereof, are not paid at their contractual due
date, in which case, the total outstanding balance thereof shall be
considered as past due. However, BSFIs may provide a cure period on
a credit product-specific basis, not to exceed thirty (30) days within
which to allow the borrowers to catch up on their late payment without
being considered as past due.

A reconciliation of the allowance for impairment pertaining to
receivables at the beginning and end of 2020 and 2019 is shown below:

Installment refers to principal and/or interest amortizations that are due
on several dates as indicated in the loan documents. The allowance for
loan losses is the estimated amount of losses in the Bank’s portfolio,
based on evaluation of the collectability of loans and prior loss
experience.

In 2019, the Bank reversed its excess allowance for probable loans on
loans amounting to Php 523,739.

Any amounts set aside in respect of losses on loans and advances in
addition to those losses that have been specifically identified or
potential losses which experience indicates to be present in portfolio of
loans and advances are accounted for as appropriations from retained
earnings. Any credits resulting from the reduction of such amounts
result in an increase in retained earnings and are not included in the
determination of net profit or loss for the period.
All allowance is increased by provisions charged to expenses and
reduced by write-offs and reversals.
Loans receivable includes past due accounts and items in litigation as
follows:

Past due performing
Past due non-performing
Items in litigation

2020

Percent
in total

58,312,465
245,426,017
(2,589,914)
306,601,999

17.48%
73.56%

2019

Percent
to total

68,107,978
213,057,745
(2,589,914)
287,166,086

21.67%
67.81%

Beginning balance
Provision charged to operations
Adjustments
Balance at the end of the year

2020
27,054,954
27,054,954

2019
20,809,074
6,769,619
(523,739)
27,054,954

Concentration of credit as to Industry/Economic Sector:

Agriculture, forestry and
fishing
Other service activities
Real estate activities
Arts, entertainment and
recreation
Construction
Manufacturing
Wholesales and retail
trade, repair of motor
vehicles, motorcycles
Accommodation and food
service activities
Activities of households
as employers;
undifferentiated goodsservices-producing
activities of households
for own use

2020

Percent
in total

29,949,831
254,882,414
22,902,980

8.98%
76.39%
6.86%

33,467,235
215,448,713
26,517,928

10.65%
68.57%
8.44%

249,689
1,965,000
5,538,477

0.07%
0.59%
1.66%

284,516
1,965,000
6,449,530

0.09%
0.63%
2.05%

2,803,399

0.84%

2,810,899

0.89%

232,855

0.07%

11,597,057

3.69%

4.54%
100.00%

15,680,162
287,166,086

4.99%
100.00%

15,132,308
333,656,953

2019

Percent
to total

The total loan portfolio as of December 31, 2020 and 2019 is broken as
to security:

Aging of past due loans are as follows:
0 to 30 days
31 to 60 days
61 to 90 days
91 to 180 days
Over 180 days

2020
556,983
1,555,698
4,562,235
9,731,092
18,869,722
35,275,730

2019
1,090,620
17,593,986
15,797,547
2,521,972
18,225,505
55,229,630

Non-Performing Loans
Loans, investments, receivables, or any financial asset shall be
considered nonperforming even without any missed contractual
payments, when it is considered impaired under existing accounting
standards, classified as doubtful or loss, in litigation, and/or there is
evidence that full repayment of principal and interest is unlikely without
foreclosure of collateral, if any. All other loans, even if not considered
impaired, shall be considered nonperforming if any principal and/or
interest are unpaid for more than ninety (90) days from contractual due
date, or accrued interests for more than ninety (90) days have been
capitalized, refinanced, or delayed by agreement.
Microfinance and other small loans with similar credit characteristics
shall be considered nonperforming after contractual due date or after it
has become past due.
Restructured receivables which do not meet the requirements to be
treated as performing receivables shall be considered as NPLs.

Secured
REM – Residential
REM – Commercial
Other collateral
Unsecured

2020

Percent
in total

144,252,914
1,726,163
16,098,502
171,579,374
333,656,953

43.23%
0.52%
4.82%
51.42%
100.00%

2019

131,147,011
2,128,558
14,803,603
166,141,868
314,221,040

Percent
to total
41.74%
0.68%
4.71%
52.87%
100.00%

Unsecured loans consist of commercial loans and other loans to
individuals.
The maturity profile of the bank’s loans is shown below:
2020
Short Term (1 year or less)
Medium Term (Over 1 year
to 5 years)
Long Term (Over 5 years)

Percent
in total

2019

40,071,182

12.01%

103,586,218

42,080,079
251,505,692
333,656,953

12.61%
75.38%
100.00%

198,996,823
11,637,999
314,221,040

Percent
to total
32.97%
63.33%%
3.70%
100.00%

Breakdown of loan portfolio based on interest rates:

Non-interest bearing
Less than 1%
Over 1% to 5%
Over 5% to 10%
Over 10% to 15%
Over 15% to 20%
Over 20% to 25%
Over 25%

2020

Percent
in total

270,911,055
29,420,775
9,398,596
20,186,810
3,774,077
333,688,313

0.00%
0.00%
0.00%
81.19%
8.82%
2.82%
6.05%
1.13%
100.00%

2019
266,991,828
30,611,334
10,354,453
2,489,348
3,774,077
314,221,040

Percent
to total
0.00%
0.00%
0.00%
84.97%
9.74%
3.30%
0.79%
1.20%
100.00%
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The reconciliation of accounts receivable is shown as follows:

Accounts receivable
Less: Allowance for probable losses

2020
514,134
514,134

2019
71,000
71,000

8. Bank Premises, Leasehold Improvements, Furniture
and Equipment
This account consists of:
Furniture, Information Other
fixtures and technology office
equipment equipment equip’t

Leasehold TransporImprovetation
ment
equip’t

Total

Cost

The aging of accounts receivable is shown below:

Dec. 31, 2018
Additions

0 to 30 days
31 to 60 days
91 to 180 days
Over 180 days

2020
514,134
514,134

2019
71,000
514,134

Sales contract receivable pertains to receivable from buyers of assets
held for sale. The term of the sale is from one to five years. Details of
sales contract receivable is shown below:

2,129,750

8,978,086

754,364

5,836,993

3,000

54,000

70,150

418,126

513,378 18,212,571

(3,837,097) (239,691)

-

- (4,398,614)
513,378 14,359,233

-

545,276

Disposal

(321,826)

Dec. 31, 2019

1,810,924

5,194,989

584,823

6,255,119

36,484

48,000

-

1,637,657

1,847,408

5,242,989

584,823

7,892,776

513,378 16,081,374
458,143 10,270,682

Additions
Dec. 31, 2020

-

1,722,141

Accum. Dep.
Dec. 31, 2018

1,741,622

4,326,247

694,811

3,049,859

Provision

179,058

714,878

52,817

570,577

Disposal

(321,826)

(1,570,423) (294,690)

-

Dec. 31, 2019

1,598,854

3,470,702

452,938

3,620,436

513,377

9,656,307

144,314

369,821

46,636

632,151

-

1,192,922

1,743,168

3,840,523

499,574

4,252,587

Dec. 31, 2019

212,070

1,724,288

131,885

2,634,683

Dec. 31, 2020

104,240

1,402,466

85,249

3,640,189

Provision
Dec. 31, 2020

55,234

1,572,564

- (2,186,939)

513,377 10,849,229

Net Book Value

Sales of contract receivable
Less: Unamortized discount

2020
695,568
(106,418)
589,150

2019
1,016,602
(207,983)
808,619

No allowance for probable losses was recorded for sales contract
receivable in 2020 and 2019.
Management believes that the carrying amount of the sales contract
receivables approximates fair value.

1
1

4,702,926
5,232,145

Additions are valued at acquisition cost and other direct costs and
expenditures necessary to bring the asset to its intended use. These
properties are not encumbered and no impairment losses were
recognized during the year.
BSP requires that total investments of a bank in real estate and
improvements, including bank requirements, shall not exceed 50% of
the bank’s net worth. As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Bank
complied with the ceiling set forth by the BSP with 6.26% and 5.87%,
respectively.

Sales contract receivable pertains to receivable from buyers of assets
held for sale. The term of the sale is from one to five years. The Bank
has not set up any allowance for the said receivable.

Depreciation expense charged to operations amounted to Php
1,192,922 in 2020 and Php 1,572,564 in 2019 (Note 20).

The reconciliation of accrued interest receivable is shown as follows:

The Bank sold certain properties with a gain of Php 2,998 in 2019.

Accrued interest income
Less: Allowance for probable losses

2020
149,112
149,112

2019
557,918
557,918

The aging of the accrued interest receivable are shown below:

9. Investment Property
This account represents real properties acquired in settlement of loans
which the Bank expects to sell in the near future. A reconciliation of the
carrying amount at the beginning and end of 2020 and 2019 and the
gross carrying amounts and allowance for impairment are shown
below:
2020

2020
0 to 30 days
31 to 60 days
91 to 180 days
Over 180 days

149,112
149,112

2019
557,918
557,918

7. Other Financial Assets at Amortized Cost
The Bank’s investments pertain to investment in agrarian reform
coupon bonds with terms of ten (10) years, maturing on different dates
with interest ranging from 6.31% to 10%. These investments are carried
at amortized cost. The Bank holds these investments for interest until
maturity.
Investment in bonds amounted to Php 98,329,710 in 2020 and Php
108,003,547 in 2019.
Interest income from these investments amounted to Php 2,952,095 in
2020 and Php 5,655,434 in 2019 (Note 15).

Cost
Beginning balance
Disposals
Ending balance
Accumulated depreciation

27,138,396
(1,061,152)
26,077,244
(3,685,846)
22,391,398

2019
28,581,556
(1,443,160)
27,138,396
(3,359,902)
23,778,494

The movements of allowance for probable losses and accumulated
depreciation are as follows:
Accumulated depreciation
January 1
Provision
BSP adjustment
Disposals
December 31

2020

2019

3,359,902
690,592
(364,648)
3,685,846

2,762,692
759,010
29,076
(190,876)
3,359,902

Certain investments properties were disposed in 2020 and 2019
generating gain amounting to Php 1,403,495 and Php 1,849,218,
respectively (Note 16)
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10. Intangible Asset
In 2018, the Bank engaged into a software service agreement with
Designex Software Consultancy for its bookkeeping software
application. Details of the intangible asset are shown as follow:
2020
Cost
Beginning balance
Additions
Adjustment

Accumulated depreciation
Beginning Balance
Provision
Disposals
Net book value

794,445
794,445

85,556
84,445
107,001
624,444

2019
1,000,000
(205,555)
794,445

5,556
80,000
85,556
708,889

This asset is amortized over 10 years. Amortization of intangible asset
amounted to Php 84,445 and Php 80,000 in 2020 and 2019,
respectively (Note 20)

Liquidity reserves
Statutory reserves
Demand and NOW
Savings and Time
Time deposits, negotiable CTDs, long-term
non-negotiable tax exempt CTDs
Long-term negotiable CTDs under Cir. No. 304
Long-term negotiable CTDs under Cir. No. 824
Deposit substitute (DS)
Bonds
Mortgage/Chattel mortgage certificate

Effective
June 30, 2020
0%
4%
4%
4%
4%
7%
4%
6%
6%

Pursuant to Circular No. 753, cash in vault is excluded as eligible form
of reserve requirement.

2020
2019

Due from BSP
16,951,653
17,059,116

Reserve
requirement ratio
8.23%
8.01%

The Bank was able to comply with the reserve requirement.
13. Accounts Payable and Accrued Expenses

11. Other Resources

This account consists of:

This account consists of:
Prepaid expenses
Stationaries and supplies
Rental deposit
Petty cash fund
Miscellaneous assets

2020
289,835
104,943
34,846
25,000
213,209
667,833

2019
346,886
101,945
34,846
25,000
213,208
721,885

Miscellaneous assets pertain to various deposits by the Bank’s
branches on their respective utility company.

Accrued expenses pertain to accruals for various costs and other
related fees and liabilities.
Accrued interest payable pertains to unpaid interests on deposits.

Accounts payable include payable to employees and other payables.

This account consists of:
2020
161,198,515
44,693,033
205,891,548

2019
174,365,864
38,709,205
213,075,069

The breakdown of savings and time deposits as to their maturities
follows:
Short term (one year or less)
Medium term (more than one year but
less than five years)
Long term (more than five years)

2020
161,198,515

2019
174,365,864

44,693,303
205,891,548

38,709,205
213,075,069

Others include overages and other miscellaneous liabilities.
The fair value of accrued expenses was not disclosed as due to its short
term duration, the Bank considers the carrying amount recognized in
the statements of financial condition to be a reasonable approximation
of its fair value.

14. Capital Disclosures
a. Share Capital
Share capital consists of:
Shares

Interest rates on deposit liabilities are as follows:
Savings
Time

2019
834,631
519,383
391,742
271,252
102,373
2,119,381

Payable to government regulatory agencies pertains to remittance to
BIR, SSS, PHIC, HDMF, and other taxes and licenses during the year.

12. Deposit Liabilities

Savings
Time

2020
827,062
517,936
514,406
313,251
2,172,655

Accrued expenses
Accrued interest payable
Payable to gov’t regulatory agencies
Accounts payable
Others

2020
0.5% - 1%
1.375% - 5%

2019
0.5% - 1%
1.375% - 4.5%

Under the BSP regulations, deposit liabilities of thrift banks are subject
to reserve requirement rations as follows:

Amount

2020

2019

2020

2019

Authorized
Common - Php100 per share
Preferred - Php100 per share

988,000
12,000

988,000
12,000

988,000
12,000

988,000
12,000

Common Stock
Issued and outstanding
Balance at the beginning of the year
Issued during the year

982,554
-

982,554
-

982,554
-

982,554
-

Total

982,554

982,554

982,554

982,554
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The Bank has 10 stockholders, with 6 owning 100 shares or more each.
Its shares are not traded in any stock exchange or over the counter
market.
The Bank is also authorized to issue 12,000 preferred shares at Php
100 par value. Preferred shares are redeemable anytime upon request
of the shareholder, thus presented as liability in the financial
statements. Redeemable preferred shares amounted to Php 100,000
in 2020 and 2019.
The holders of preferred shares are given preference over the holders
of common shares in dividend and in distribution of corporate assets in
event of liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Corporation.
Preferred shares are non-convertible, non-voting and does not have
right of pre-emption.
Additional Deposit for Future Subscription
The Bank is still in the process of increasing its authorized capital to
Php 400 million. In connection to the increase, the Bank received
deposits for future subscription amounting to Php 224,764,000 in 2020
and Php 224,664,000 in 2019 recorded as liability under Deposit for
Future Stock Subscription in the statements of financial condition.
b. Surplus (Deficit)
Unappropriated
Balance, beginning
Prior period adjustments
Net income for the year
Balance, end

2020

2019

(18,108,403)
3,426,883
(14,681,520)

(24,566,412)
102,525
6,355,484
(18,108,403)

Tier 1 capital
Tier 2 capital
Total qualifying capital
Risk weighted assets
Tier 1 capital ratio
Tier 2 capital ratio
Total CAR

2020
83.57
0.10
83.67
450.50
18.55%
0.02%
18.57%

2019
80.15
2.69
82.84
397.57
20.16%
0.68%
20.84%

Regulatory capital consists of Tier 1 capital, which comprises share
capital, share premium, retained earnings including current year profit
less accrued dividends, net long positions in own shares and goodwill.
The other component of regulatory capital, Tier 2, includes revaluation
reserves. Certain adjustments are made to PFRS-based results and
reserves, as prescribed by the BSP in supervising the Bank.

d. Minimum Capital Requirement
On October 9, 2014, BSP issued Circular No. 854 raising the required
minimum capital requirement for thrift banks with a head office in all
other areas outside National Capital Region and having up to 10
branches to Php 300 Million. The Bank has already complied with this
requirement in 2018 with additional share issuance of Php 26,336,000
and capital infusion of Php 224,764,000 reported as deposit for future
subscription pending approval of its application of increase in
authorized capital stock.

e. Additional Capital Disclosures
Prior Period Adjustment
Prior period adjustment pertains to prior period income and expenses
and BSP examination adjusting entries amounting to Php 102,525 in
2019 which were recognized only in the same year.
c. Capital Adequacy Ratio
Under existing BSP regulations, the determination of the bank’s
compliance with regulatory requirements and ratios is based on the
amount of the bank’s unimpaired capital (regulatory net worth) reported
to the BSP, determined on the basis of regulatory accounting policies
which differ from generally accepted accounting principles in some
aspects.
Under Section 22 of the General Banking Act, the combined capital
accounts of each thrift bank should not be less than an amount equal
to 10% of its risk assets. The qualifying capital of the Bank for purposes
of determining the capital-to-risk asset ratio to total equity excludes:
 Unbooked valuation reserves and other capital adjustments as
may be required by the BSP;
 Total outstanding unsecured credit accommodations to directors,
officers, stakeholders and DOSRI;
 Deferred tax asset for liability; and
 Other regulatory deductions.
Risk assets consists of total assets after exclusion of cash on hand, due
from BSP, loans covered by hold-out on or assignment of deposits,
loans or acceptances under letters of credit to the extent covered by
margin deposits, and other non-risk items as determined by the
Monetary Board of the BSP.
The amount of surplus funds available for dividend declaration is
determined also on the basis of regulatory net worth after considering
certain adjustments. As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Bank was
in compliance with the risk-based capital adequacy ratio (CAR).
Under the BSP Circular No. 360, effective July 1, 2003, the CAR is to
be inclusive of a market charge. As of December 31, 2020 and 2019,
the Bank’s CAR is in compliance with the regulatory requirement. The
CAR of the Bank as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, as reported to
the BSP, is shown in the following table (amount in millions):

The Bank’s objectives when managing capital are:
 To safeguard the Bank’s ability to continue as a going concern,
so that it can continue to provide returns for shareholders and
benefits for other stakeholders, and
 To provide an adequate return to shareholders by pricing
products and services consummately with the level of risk.
The Bank sets the amount of capital in proportion to risk. It manages
the capital structure and makes adjustments to it in the light of changes
in economic conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying
assets. In order to maintain or adjust capital structure, the Bank may
adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to
shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.
The Bank defines capital as pain-in capital stock and surplus. Other
components of equity are excluded from capital for purposes of capital
management. The BOD has overall responsibility for monitoring capital
in proportion to risks. Profiles for capital ratios are set in the light of
changes in the Bank’s business, operation and industry.
Consistently with others in the industry, the Bank monitors its capital on
the basis of the adjusted net debt-to-equity ratio. This ratio is calculated
as adjusted net debt/capital. Net debt is calculated as total debt (as
shown in the statements of financial condition) less cash and cash
equivalents. Capital comprises all components of equity (i.e. share
capital and deficit) other than amounts recognized in equity relating to
cash flow hedges, and including some forms of subordinated debt.
The Bank was able to comply with the reserve requirement.
The Bank’s strategy has not changed in 2020 and 2019. The adjusted
net-to-equity ratios at December 31, 2020 and 2019 are as follows:
Total debt
Less: Cash and cash equivalents
Adjusted net debt
Total equity
Adjusted net debt-to-equity ratio

2020
433,199,418
81,673,373
351,526,045
83,573,880
4.21

2019
441,067,951
94,695,584
346,372,367
80,146,997
4.32
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The amount arising from the Bank’s obligation in respect of its defined
benefit plans is as follows:

15. Interest Income
Interest income on loans and receivables are those earned from:
2020
Current loans
Loans and discount
Small and medium enterprises loans
Agricultural loans
Past due loans
Loans and discount
Small and medium enterprises loans
Agricultural loans
Sales contract receivable

2019

3,080,442
14,140,268
1,639,164

5,914,602
13,810,845
901,671

1,144,795
745,409
96,402
101,565
20,948,045

520,345
1,917,328
7,306
132,462
23,204,559

Interest income on bank deposits from due from other banks amounted
to Php 4,042,928 and Php 4,375,450 in 2020 and 2019 (Note 5).

Present value of benefit obligation
Fair value of plan assets
Liability to be recognized
Liability already recognized
Increase (Decrease) in liability

2020
4,555,879
2,615,456
1,940,423
1,940,423

2019
2,128,963
2,229,133
(100,170)
(100,170)

The Bank’s Management believes that the difference, if any, between
the valuation of its retirement expense and obligation conducted fro
funding purposes shown above and valuation in accordance with
PAS19R “Employee Benefits” will not affect materially the Bank’s
financial statements.
Other information required under PAS19R are not disclosed as these
are not available.

Income on investment in bonds amounted to Php 2,952,095 and Php 19. Operating Lease Commitments
5,655,434 in 2020 and 2019, respectively (Note 7).
As Lessee
16. Other Income
Interest income on loans and receivables are those earned from:
Fees and commission income
Income from sale of asset acquired
Gains on disposal of asset
Miscellaneous income

2020
4,425,154
1,403,495
4,501
2,779
5,835,929

2019
11,210,073
1,849,218
2,998
168,140
13,230,429

Miscellaneous income includes interest gained from cash advances,
penalties for late payment of loan amortization, BSP adjustments on
unrealized gains on assets sold and other income.
17. Interest Expense
Interest expense on deposit liabilities amounted to Php 1,836,739 in
2020 and Php 1,912,082 in 2019.

The Bank leases the premises where its main office and off-site banking
offices are situated. These contracts have rates ranging from Php
20,000 to Php 41,000 and have terms of 9 to 10 years. These contracts
do not constitute any escalation and are renewable anytime before end
of term. A security deposit amounting to Php 34,846 and Php 18,346
as of December 31, 2020 and 2019 is required for the faithful
compliance of all terms and conditions. These security deposits should
be refunded upon termination of the lease (Note 11).
As the contract of lease with its lessor is cancellable and the lease asset
is of low-value, thus rent expense is reported on an accrual basis per
lease term.
There are no right-of-use assets or lease abilities arising from the shortterm leases and leases of low valued assets recognized.
The Bank’s total rent expense and cash outflow related to lease of lowvalue asset amounted to Php 1,471,404 and Php 1,390,404 in 2020
and 2019, respectively and is shown in other operating expense as rent
expense (Note 20).

18. Employee Benefits
20. Other Operating Expenses

18.1 Compensation and Benefits

This account consists of:

This consists of the following:
Salaries and wages
Other employee benefits
SSS, PHIC and HDMF contributions
Retirement expense

2020
7,680,037
2,170,467
961,914
21,350
10,833,768

2019
6,700,082
2,473,838
691,758
152,241
10,017,919

18.2 Post-Employment Benefits
The Bank has funded a non-contributory pension plan for retirement,
resignation and disability benefits covering all its regular full-time
employees. The plan is registered with the Bureau of Internal Revenue
under R.A. No. 4917.
The fund is administered by Insular Life Assurance Co., Ltd. (“the
Trustee”) appointed by the Bank’s Board of Directors. The Bank pays a
periodic amortization based on a valuation conducted by the Trustee
and records such as retirement expense.
The assumptions used were as follows:

Discount rate
Expected rate of salary increases

2020
4.25%
7.00%

2019
4.25%
7.00%

Directors’ fees
Depreciation and amortization
Communication, light and water
Rental
Security services
Management and professional fees
Insurance
Representation and entertainment
Office supplies
Fuel and lubricant
Advertising and promotion
Repairs and maintenance
Supervision and examination fees
Transportation and travel
Litigation/;assets acquired
Membership dues
Meetings, seminar and celebration
Fees, fines and other penalties
Donations and charitable contributions
Commissions
Periodicals and magazine
Provision for probable losses –
other assets
Miscellaneous

2020
2,097,000
1,967,958
1,532,180
1,471,404
1,185,695
869,000
481,775
330,890
212,200
200,173
157,349
127,290
107,464
80,159
53,742
53,240
28,500
18,797
500
-

2019
1,775,000
2,411,574
1,631,339
1,390,404
1,069,688
619,000
744,769
1,172,956
231,648
155,922
84,688
255,556
92,317
170,140
53,241
87,712
50,200
308,120
5,500
54,912
28,336

558,840
11,534,156

130,000
2,574,631
15,097,652
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Depreciation charged to operations is shown as follows:
2020
Bank premises, leasehold improvements,
furniture and equipment
Investment property
Intangible Asset

1,192,922
84,445
690,591
1,967,958

2019
1,572,564
80,000
759,010
2,411,574

Miscellaneous expenses include bank charges and other expenses.

Allowance for
probable losses
- loans
December 31, 2018
6,242,722
Provision
2,030,886
Adjustments
(157,122)
MCIT applied
December 31, 2019
8,116,486
Provision
December 31, 2020
8,116,486

Deferred
MCIT
1,199,873
(1,199,873)
-

Total
7,442,595
2,030,886
(157,122)
(1,199,873)
8,116,486
8,116,486

Income on investment in bonds amounted to Php 2,952,095 and Php
5,655,434 in 2020 and 2019, respectively (Note 7).
21. Income Taxes
The computations of Normal Income Tax (NIT) and MCIT are shown
below:

These deferred tax assets were, however, not recognized by the Bank
as there is no certainty that the Bank will generate taxable income
exceeding minimum corporate income tax which the above amoutns
can be applied in the next three years. Starting 2018, the Bank started
to generate net income.
Corporate Recovery and Tax Incentives for Enterprises (CREATE) Act

Normal Income Tax (NIT)
Net before income tax
Add: Provision for probable losses –
other assets
Provision for probable losses - loans
Prior period adjustments
Interest arbitrage
Less: Interest income subject to final
tax
Income subject to tax
Income tax at 30% thereon
Less: Deferred MCIT not previously
recognized
Quarterly tax payments
Income tax payable

2019
9,800,061

1,341,265

130,000
6,769,619
102,525
1,912,082

(4,064,440)
2,166,565
649,969

(9,698,362)
9,015,925
2,704,778

378,754
271,215

1,199,873
395,404
1,109,501

2020
30,848,414
4,064,440
26,783,974

2019
46,133,350
102,525
9,698,362
36,537,513

10,833,768
495,474
11,329,242

9,326,161
9,326,161

As at the end of the reporting date, December 31, 2020, the CREATE
Law is not considered substantively enacted. As such, current and
deferred taxes are measured using the applicable statutory tax rate of
30%.

15,454,732
309,095

27,211,352
544,227

Had the law been substantively enacted on December 31, 2020, it
would have had the following impact on the financial statements:

Minimum Corporate Income Tax (MCIT)
Gross Income
Prior period adjustments
Less: Income subject to final tax
Total
Less: Direct Costs
Compensation and benefits
Interest on deposits
Total Direct Costs
Gross Profit
Income tax payable

The reconciliation between the provision for income tax computed at
the statutory income tax rate and the provision for income tax as shown
in the statement of comprehensive income for the year ended
December 31, 2020 and 2019 are as follows:
2020
Income tax computed at the statutory
income tax rate
Tax effect of:
Deferred MCIT not previously recognized
Final tax on interest income
Income Tax per Financial Statements
Current
Deferred
Final Tax

The President signed the CREATE Bill into law on March 26, 2021. The
following are the law’s significant provisions:

2020
4,889,740

 Adoption of graduated Regular Corporate Income Tax (RCIT) rate
effective July 1, 2020 based on total assets of domestic
corporations. For those domestic corporations with total assets
(excluding land where the company is located) of Php 10 million
and below and taxable income of Php 5 million and below, the
income tax rate is 20%. For other domestic corporations, the
income tax rate is 25%.
 Adoption of 25% RCIT for resident foreign corporations effective
July 1, 2020.
 Adoption of 25% tax rate for nonresident foreign corporations
effective July 1, 2020.
 Reduction of Minimum Corporate Income Tax (MCIT) from 2% to
1% for a period of three years (effective July 1, 2020 to June 20,
2023)
 Existing enterprises under income tax holiday (ITH) shall be
allowed to continue availing the ITH until the remaining period
ends. Existing enterprises enjoying the 5% tax based on gross
income shall be allowed to continue the 5% tax for a period of 10
years. After the expiration of the transitory period, they have the
option to avail of tax incentives under CREATE.

Statements of Financial Position
Income tax payable
Retained earnings

Based on Old
Tax Rates
271,215
(14,681,520)

Effect of New
Tax Rates
(85,579)
85,579

Based on New
Tax Rates
144,400
(14,595,941)

Effect of New
Tax Rates
(85,579)
85,579

Based on New
Tax Rates
1,377,278
3,512,462

2019

Statements of Comprehensive Income
649,969

2,704,778

812,888

(1,199,873)
1,939,672

649,969
812,888
1,462,857

2,704,778
(1,199,873)
1,939,672
3,444,577

Deferred income tax assets as of December 31, 2020 and 2019 arise
principally from recognition of allowance for probable losses of loans
receivable. Reconciliation of deferred tax assets is shown as follows:

Income tax expense
Net income after tax

Based on Old
Tax Rates
1,462,857
3,426,883

22. Related Party Transactions
The Bank has identified its directors, officers, stockholders and key
management personnel as its related parties.
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a. Loans to DOSRI
In the ordinary course of business, the Bank enters into loan and other
transactions with certain directors, officers, stockholders and related
interests (DOSRI). Under the Bank’s policy, these loans and other
transactions are made substantially on the same terms as with other
individuals and businesses of comparable risks. The General Banking
Act and BSP regulations limit the amount of the loans to its subsidiary
and affiliate to 25% of the Bank’s capital funds.
There were no DOSRI transactions and outstanding balances as of
December 31, 2020 and 2019.
b. Executive Compensation
.
The key executive officers and directors of the Bank receive allowances
for their services as such. The aggregate compensation and benefits
paid to them in 2020 and 2019 amounted as follows:
2020
2,097,000
2,097,000

Short-term benefits
Post-employment benefits
Other long-term benefits
Shared-based payments

2019
1,775,000
1,775,000

Non-working directors received fees and allowances amounting to Php
2,097,000 and Php 1,775,000 in 2020 and 2019, respectively. These
are presented in the Statement of Comprehensive Income as “Other
operating expenses” (Note 20).
The aggregate compensation and benefits paid to the key management
personnel in 2020 and 2019 amounted as follows:
2020
1,600,000
1,600,000

Short-term benefits
Post-employment benefits
Other long-term benefits
Shared-based payments

2019
1,600,000
1,600,000

Fair value is defined as the amount at which the financial instrument
could be sold in a current transaction between knowledgeable willing
parties in an arm’s length transaction, other than in a forced liquidation
or sale. Fair values are obtained from quoted market prices, discounted
cash flow models and option pricing models, as appropriate.
A financial instrument is regarded as quoted in an active market if
quoted prices are readily available from an exchange, dealer, broker,
pricing services or regulatory agency and those prices represent actual
and regularly occurring market transactions on an arm’s length basis.
For a financial instrument with an active market, the quoted market
price is used as its fair value. On the other hand, if transactions are no
longer regularly occurring even if prices might be available and the only
observed transactions are forced transactions or distressed sales, then
the market is considered inactive. For a financial instrument with no
active market, its fair value is determined using a valuation technique
(e.g. discounted cash flow approach) that incorporates all factors that
market participants would consider in setting a price.
The following methods and assumptions are used to estimate fair value
of each class of financial instruments:
Cash
The carrying amount approximates the fair value primarily due to the
relatively short-term maturity of these financial instruments.
Financial assets at amortized cost
Amortized cost is used in recognizing the amount of loans and
receivables.
Deposit liabilities
Amortized cost less settlement payments.
Other financial instruments
The carrying amount of these investments approximate fair value of
these instruments.
There were no transfers between levels during the period.
Cash Flow Information

23. Income Taxes

Non-cash investing and financing activities
The Company has no acquisition of PPE through finance lease and
conversion of debt to equity in 2020 and 2019.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments
The following table sets forth the carrying values and estimated fair
values of the Bank’s financial assets and liabilities recognized as at
December 31, 2020 and 2019. There are no material unrecognized
financial assets and liabilities as of December 31, 2020 and 2019.
Carrying Value
2020
Financial Assets at Amortized
Cost
Cash and other cash items
Due from BSP
Due from other banks
Loans and receivables, net*
Other financial assets:
Rental deposit
Petty cash fund
Other financial assets at
amortized cost
Investment in bonds

2019

Reconciliation of cash and non-cash financial liabilities arising from
financing activities
The table below sets out an analysis of cash and non-cash movements
of financial liabilities arising from financing activities.

Fair Value
2020

2019

Redeemable preferred shares
December 31, 2018
Cash flows
December 31, 2019
Cash Flows
December 31, 2020

2,612,553
2,952,833
2,612,553
2,952,833
16,951,653 17,059,116
16,951,653 17,059,116
62,109,167 74,683,635
62,109,167 74,683,635
307,854,395 288,603,623 307,854,395 288,603,623
34,846
25,000

34,846
25,000

98,329,710 108,003,547

34,846
25,000

34,846
25,000

98,329,710 108,003,547

100,000
100,000
100,000

24. Additional Disclosures
The Bank has identified its directors, officers, stockholders and key
management personnel as its related parties.

487,917,324 491,362,600 487,917,324 491,362,600
Financial Liabilities
Deposit liabilities
Accrued payable and
accrued expenses**
Redeemable preferred shares

Return on average equity1/
Return on average assets2/
Net interest margin3/

205,891,548 213,075,069 205,891,548 213,075,069
1,658,249
100,000

1,727,639
100,000

1,658,249
100,000

1,727,639
100,000

207,649,797 214,902,708 207,649,797 214,902,708
*includes loans receivable, sales contract receivable, accounts receivable and accrued interest
income
**excluding payable to regulatory agencies

1/

2020
4.19%
0.66%
4.93%

Net income divided by average total equity for the period indicated
Net income divided by average total assets for the period indicated
3/
Net interest income by average interest-earning assets
2/

2019
8.26%
1.23%
6.67%
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Mandatory Credit Allocation required under R.A. 6977, as amended by
R.A. Nos. 8289 and 9501 for Small and Medium Enterprises

2020
8% Small Enterprises
2% Medium Enterprises

Required
Compliance
6,647,797
1,661,949

2019
8% Small Enterprises
2% Medium Enterprises

Required
Compliance
4,452,323
1,113,081

Actual Compliance
Amount
Percentage
171,504,132
73,890,525

206.39%
88.92%

Actual Compliance
Amount
Percentage
151,932,843
60,974,095

273.00%
109.56%

The Bank is compliance with MSME requirements in 2020 and 2019.
Implementing Rules and Regulations of the Agri-Agra Reform Credit
Act under R.A. 10000 and BSP Circular No. 736
Actual Compliance
Amount
Percentage

Required
2020
Compliance
10% Agra Reform Credit
6,664,804
15% Other Agri Credit
9,997,206

29,949,831

0.00%
44.94%

Actual Compliance
Amount
Percentage

Required
2019
Compliance
10% Agra Reform Credit
6,944,963
15% Other Agri Credit
10,417,445

33,467,235

0.00%
48.19%

The Bank invested in the Landbank of the Philippines which serve as
an alternative compliance to the 25% mandatory agriculture and
agrarian reform credit required under RA10000 and BSP Circular No.
736 (Note 7).

and outstanding loans falling due, or any part thereof, on or before
December 31, 2020 without charging interest, penalties, fees and other
charges to the borrower thereby extending the maturity of the loans.
These events have significantly reduced loan related revenues by Php
5,499,680 or 5.12% compared to 2019. In its assessment done in
December 2020, the Company has determined that in spite of the
negative impact of COVID-19 on the financial statements, it can still
continue as a going concern.
Considering the evolving nature of the outbreak, there may still be a
significant impact to the Bank’s financial position and performance on
its 2021 financial results which cannot be quantified at this time.
SEC Memorandum Circular No. 32 Series of 2020
The Bangko Sentral ng Pilipinas (BSP) issued a Memorandum to all
Banks allowing regulatory relief measures, as follows:
The BSP requested that the SEC allow Audited Financial Statements
of BSFIs to be prepared in accordance with Philippine Financial
Reporting Standards (PFRS), as modified by the application of the
above financial reporting reliefs, for the duration and terms allowed by
the BSP, in response to the request of the Bankers Association of the
Philippines (BAP) addressed to both the SEC and BSP.
On November 17, 2020, the adoption of an industry-specific framework
is approved, to be referred to as the PFRS, as modified by the
application of the financial reporting reliefs issued by the BSP and
approved by the SEC. Accordingly, BSFIs have the option to prepare
their financial statements using said industry-specific framework or full
PFRS for the duration and terms allowed by the BSP.

The Bank has no secured liabilities and assets pledged as security.

Approval of the above relief is still pending as of December 2020. Had
the Bank opt to record the allowance in accordance with PFRS, it would
have had the following impact on the financial statements:

Minimum Liquidity Ratio (MLR) for Stand-Alone Thrift Banks

Statements of Financial Position

Aggregate amount of secured liabilities and assets pledged as security

A prudential MLR of twenty percent (20%) shall apply to banks on an
ongoing basis absent a period of financial stress. The liquidity ratio is
expressed as a percentage of a bank’s eligible stock of liquid assets to
its total qualifying liabilities.
Cash on hand
Due from other banks
Due from BSP
Stock of liquid assets
Divided by qualifying liabilities*
Minimum liquidity ratio

2020
2,612,553
62,109,167
16,951,653
81,673,373
375,855,375
21.73%

2019
2,952,833
74,683,635
17,059,116
94,695,584
380,828,814
24.87%

Loans and receivables, net
Allowance for credit losses
Deficit

Modified
PFRS
307,854,395
27,054,954
(14,681,520)

Effect of
Modified
PFRS
(17,675,198)
17,675,198
(17,675,198)

PFRS
290,179,197
44,730,152
(32,356,718)

Statements of Comprehensive Income
Modified
PFRS
Provision for credit losses
Net income (loss) after tax

*excluding obligations arising from operational expense

3,426,883

Effect of
Modified
PFRS
17,675,198
(17,675,198)

PFRS
17,675,198
(14,248,315)

The Bank is compliant with MLR for 2019.
Impact of COVID-19 Pandemic
In March 2020, the Philippine Government issued a series of executive
orders imposing stringent health and social distancing measures in a
move to contain the outbreak in various areas in the country. These
measures have caused disruptions to business and economic activities.
The pandemic negatively impacted the Bank’s collections since many
of its borrowers lost their source of income. Also, as part of the
government’s measures to combat the impact of the pandemic, the
government implemented a law titled Bayanihan to Heal As One Act
effective March 17 – March 31, 2020. For financing companies and
other financial institutions, they are required to implement a minimum
of 60-day grace period for all loans with principal and/or interest falling
due within the quarantine period without charging interest, penalties,
fees and other charges to the borrower. To further combat the effects
of the pandemic, the government later implemented a law titled
Bayanihan to Recover as One Act, effective September 11, 2020,
directing all financing companies and other financial institutions to
implement a one-time sixty (60)-day grace period of all existing, current

25. Supplementary Information Required Under Revenue Regulation
Nos. 02-2014, 15-2010 and 34-2020 of the BIR
In addition to the disclosures mandated under PFRS, companies are
required by the BIR to provide in the notes to financial statements
certain supplementary information for the taxable year. The amounts
relating to such supplementary information may not necessarily be the
same with those amounts disclosed in the separate financial
statements which were prepared in accordance with PFRS. The
following are the supplementary tax information required for the taxable
years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019.
I.

Based on RR 02-2014

The schedule and information of taxable income and deductions taken
for 2020 are as follows:
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e. Withholding Taxes

a. Interest Income
Loans and receivables

Regular Rate
20,948,045

The amount of withholding taxes paid/accrued for the year 2020
and 2019 amounted to:

b. Direct Costs
Compensation and benefits
Interest on Deposits

Regular Rate
10,833,768
495,474
11,329,242

c. Taxable Other Income
Fees and commission income
Gain on sale of assets
Miscellaneous income

Regular Rate
4,425,154
1,407,996
2,779
5,835,929

d. Other Expenses
Directors’ fees
Depreciation
Taxes and licenses
Communication, light and water
Rental
Security services
Management and professional fees
Insurance
Representation and entertainment
Office supplies
Fuel and oil
Advertising and promotion
Repairs and maintenance
Supervision and examination fees
Transportation and travel
Litigation/;assets acquired
Membership dues
Meetings, seminar and celebration
Fees and fines paid
Donations and charitable contributions
Miscellaneous

Regular Rate
2,097,000
1,967,958
1,754,011
1,532,180
1,471,404
1,185,695
869,000
481,775
330,890
212,200
200,173
157,349
127,290
107,464
80,159
53,742
53,240
28,500
18,797
500
558,840
13,288,167

II. Based on RR 15-2010
a. Percentage Tax
The Bank is subject to percentage tax at 1%, 5% and 7% on its
gross receipts as follows in the amount of Php 1,328,375 and
Php 1,810,601 in 2020 and 2019, respectively.
b. Information on the Bank’s Importation
The Bank did not have importations during the year.
c. Excise Taxes
The Bank did not have local nor imported excisable items.
d. Documentary Stamp Tax
The Bank has not paid any documentary stamp tax in 2020 and
2019.

2020
a) Tax on compensation and benefits
b) Expanded withholding taxes
c) Final withholding

f.

406,469
254,637
133,615
794,721

2019
36,048
237,046
286,079
559,173

Taxes and Licenses
The following table shows the taxes and licenses paid and
accrued in 2020 and 2019 lodged under operating expenses:

Gross receipts tax
Business permit
Real property tax
Annual fee
Others

2020
1,328,375
323,655
3,269
1,500
97,212
1,754,011

2019
1,810,601
256,108
14,240
1,500
453,568
2,536,017

Other include fire safety fee, community tax, LTO registration
renewal and other taxes.

g. Tax Assessments and Cases
The Bank is not involved under preliminary investigation,
litigation and/or prosecution in courts or bodies outside BIR. It
has not been assessed any deficiency tax.

III. Based on RR 34-2020
The Company is not covered by BIR requirements and procedures for
related party transactions as the Company is not a large taxpayer, not
BOI or PEZA-registered, and has not reported net operating losses for
the current year and the past two (2) years.

26. Other Matters
There are no contingencies and commitments arising from off-balance
sheet items.
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PART I. CALCULATION OF RISK-BASED CAPITAL ADEQUACY RATIO (in absolute amounts)
Item
Nature of Item
Account Code
A.
A.1
A.2
A.3
B.
B.1
(a)
(b)
(c)
(d)
(e)
(f)
(g)
(h)
B.2
B.3
B.4
C.

Calculation of Qualifying Capital
Net Tier 1 Capital
Net Tier 2 Capital
Total Qualifying Capital [sum of A.1 and A.2]
Calculation of Risk-Weighted Assets
Total Credit Risk-Weighted Assets [B.1(d) minus B.1(h)]
Risk-Weighted On-Balance Sheet Assets
Risk-Weighted Off-Balance Sheet Assets
Counterparty Risk-Weighted Assets
Total Credit Risk Weighted Assets [Sum of B.1(a), B.1(b), and B.1(c)]
Deductions from Total Credit Risk-Weighted Assets
General Loan Loss Provision (in excess of the amount permitted to be included in
upper Tier 2 capital) [Part iii.1, Item G.(1)(b) minus Part ii, Item b.1(7)]
Unbooked valuation reserves and other capital adjustments affecting asset accounts
based on the latest report of examination as approved by the Monetary Board
Total Deductions [Sum of B.1(f) and B.1(g)]
Total Operational Risk-Weighted Assets
Total Market Risk-weighted Assets
Total Risk-Weighted Assets [Sum of B.1, B.2 and B.3]
RISK-BASED CAPITAL ADEQUACY RATIO [A.3 divided by B.4 multiply by 100]

PART II. QUALIFYING CAPITAL (in absolute amounts)
Item
Nature of Item
A.
A.1
(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)
(5)
(6)
(7)
(8)
(9)
(10)

(11)
A.2
(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)
(5)
(6)
(7)
(8)
(9)
A.3
A.4
(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)
A.5
B.
B.1
(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)
(5)
(6)
(7)
(8)

(9)
(10)

Tier 1 (Core plus Hybrid) Capital
Core Tier 1 Capital
Paid up common stock
Deposit for common stock subscription
Paid-up perpetual and non-cumulative preferred stock
Deposit for perpetual and non-cumulative preferred stock subscription
Additional paid-in capital
Retained Earnings
Undivided profits
Net gains on fair value adjustment of hedging instruments in a cash flow hedge of
available for sale equity securities
Cumulative foreign currency translation
Minority interest in subsidiary financial allied undertakings (i.e., RBs and venture capital
corporations (VCCs) for TBs, and RBs for Coop Banks) which are less than whollyowned (for consolidated basis)1/
Sub-total [Sum of A.1(1) to A.1(10)]
Deductions from Core Tier 1 Capital
Common stock treasury shares (for consolidated basis)
Perpetual and non-cumulative preferred stock treasury shares (for consolidated basis)
Net unrealized losses on available for sale equity securities purchased
Unbooked valuation reserves and other capital adjustments based on the latest ROE
as approved by the Monetary Board
Total outstanding unsecured credit accommodations, both direct and indirect, to
DOSRI, net allowance for credit losses
Total outstanding unsecured loans, other credit accommodations and guarantees
granted to subsidiaries and affiliates, net of allowance for credit losses
Deferred tax asset, net of deferred tax liability2/
Goodwill, net of allowance for losses3/
Total Deductions [Sum of A.2 (1) to A.2 (8)]
Total Core Tier 1 Capital [A.1 (11) minus A.2 (9)]
Hybrid Tier 1 Capital
Perpetual preferred stock
Perpetual unsecured subordinated debt
Total Hybrid Tier 1 Capital [Sum of A.4 (1) and A.4(2)]
Eligible Hybrid Tier 1 Capital [limited to 17.65% of Total Core Tier 1 Capital (Item A.3)]
Total Tier 1 Capital [Sum of A.3 and A.4 (4)]
Tier 2 (Supplementary) Capital
Upper Tier 2 Capital
Paid-up perpetual and cumulative preferred stock
Deposit for perpetual and cumulative preferred stock subscription
Paid-up limited life redeemable preferred stock with the replacement requirement upon
redemption
Deposit for limited life redeemable preferred stock with the replacement requirement
upon redemption
Appraisal increment reserve – bank premises, as authorized by the Monetary Board
Net unrealized gains on available for sale equity securities purchased (subject to a
55% discount)
General loan loss provision [limited to 1.00% of total credit risk-weighted assets
computed per Part I, Item B.1(d)]
Unsecured subordinated debt with a minimum original maturity of at least 10 years
(subject to a cumulative discount factor of 20% per year during the last 5 years to
maturity, i.e., 20% if the remaining life is 4 years to less than 5 years, 40% if the
remaining life is 3 years to less than 4 years, etc.)
Hybrid Tier 1 Capital (in excess of the max allowable 15% limit of total Tier 1 capital)
[A.4 (3) minus A.4 (4)]
Sub-total [Sum of B.1 (1) to B.1 (9)]

Amount

395000000000710000
395000000000720000
395000000000700000

83,574,150.00
100,000.00
83,674,150.00

195931000000000000
100000000000811000
400000000000812000
110100000000813000
100000000000810000

412,093,821.36
0.00
0.00
412,093,821.36

175150500000000000

0.00

365052000000711000
165000000000810000
195000000000830000
100000000000820000
100000000000800000
990000000000000000

0.00
0.00

Account Code
305050000000000000
305250500000000000
305100000000000000
305251000000000000
305200000000000000
315000000000000000
315150000000000000

412,093,821.36

38,401,873.07
0.00
450,495,694.43
18.57

Amount
98,255,400.00

(14,681,250.00)
0.00

320101000500000000
320150000000000000

325150000000000000
300000000000711000

83,574,150.00

365050500000711000
365051000000711000
365051500000711000
365052000000711000
365052500000711000
365053000000711000
365053500000711000
365054000000711000
365050000000711000
395000000000711000

0.00
83,574,150.00

310030500000000000
310031000000000000
300000000000712000
396000000000712000
300000000000710000

0.00
0.00
83,574,150.00

305150000000000000
305251500000000000

100,000.00

220250500000000000
305252000000000000
325050000000000000
320052000500000000
175151000000000000

0.00

295202001000000000
310031500000000000
300000000000721000

0.00
100,000.00
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B.2
(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)
(5)
B.3
B.4
(1)

(2)
(3)

(4)
B.5
(1)
(2)

(3)
B.6
B.7
B.8
B.9
C.
(1)
(2)
D.
(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)
(5)
(6)
E.
E.1
E.2
F.
1/

2/

3/

4/

Deductions from Upper Tier 2
Perpetual and cumulative preferred stock treasury shares (for consolidated basis)
Limited life redeemable preferred stock with the replacement requirement upon
redemption (for consolidated basis)
Sinking fund for redemption of limited life redeemable preferred stock with the
replacement requirement upon redemption
Net losses in fair value adjustment of hedging instruments in a cash flow hedge
available for sale equity securities
Total Deductions [Sum of B.2 (1) to B.2 (4)]
Total Upper Tier 2 Capital [B.1 (10 minus B.s (5)]
Lower Tier 2 Capital
Paid-up limited life redeemable preferred stock without the replacement requirement
upon redemption (subject to a cumulative discount factor of 20% per year during the
last 5 years to maturity, i.e., 20% if the remaining life is 4 years to less than 5 years,
40% if the remaining life is 3 years to less than 4 years, etc.)
Deposit for limited life redeemable preferred stock subscription without the
replacement requirement upon redemption
Unsecured subordinated debt with a minimum original maturity of at least 5 years
(subject to a cumulative discount factor of 20% per year during the last 5 years to
maturity, i.e., 20% if the remaining life is 4 years to less than 5 years, 40% if the
remaining life is 3 years to less than 4 years, etc.)
Sub-total [Sum of B.4 (1) to B.4 (3)]
Deductions from Lower Tier 2
Limited life redeemable preferred stock with the replacement requirement upon
redemption (for consolidated basis
Sinking fund for redemption of limited life redeemable preferred stock with the
replacement requirement upon redemption (limited to the balance of redeemable
preferred stock after applying the cumulative discount factor)
Total Deductions [Sum of B.5 (1) and B.5 (2)]
Total Lower Tier 2 Capital [B.4 (4) minus B.5 (3)]
Eligible Amount of Lower Tier 2 Capital (limited to 50% of total Tier 1 capital per
Item A.5)
Total Tier 2 Capital [Sum of B.3 and B.7]
Eligible Amount of Tier 2 Capital (limited to 100% of total Tier 1 capital per Item A.5)
Gross Qualifying Capital (Sum of A.5 and B.9)
Total Tier 1 Capital (Item A.5)
Total Tier 2 Capital (Item B.9)
Deductions from Tier 1 and Tier 2 Capital
Investments in equity of unconsolidated subsidiary RBs and VCCs for TBs, and RBs
for Coop Banks after deducting related goodwill, if any (for solo basis)
Investments in other regulatory capital instruments of unconsolidated subsidiary RBs
for Coop Banks (for solo basis)
Investments in equity of unconsolidated subsidiary for non-financial allied undertakings
after deducting related goodwill, if any (for both solo and consolidated bases)
Significant minority investments (20%-50% of voting stock) in banks and other financial
allied undertakings (for both solo and consolidated bases)
Reciprocal investments in equity/other regulatory capital instruments of other
banks/quasi-banks/enterprises
Total Deductions [Sum of D (1) to D (5)]
Net Tier 1 and Tier 2 Capital
Net Tier 1 Capital 4/ {C (1) minus [D (6) multiply by 50%]}
Net Tier 1 Capital 4/ {C (2) minus [D (6) multiply by 50%]}
Total Qualifying Capital [C minus D (6)]

365100500000721000
365101000000721000
365101500000721000
365102000000721000
365100000000721000
395000000000721000

220251000000000000
305252500000000000

295202002000000000
300000000000722000

365150500000722000

365151000000722000
365150000000722000
395000000000722000
396000000000722000
300000000000720000
396000000000720000
396000000000700000
300000000000710001
396000000000720001

(2)

0.00
0.00
0.00
100,000.00
100.000.00
83,574,150.00
83,574,150.00
100,000.00

365200500000700000
365201000000700000
365201500000700000
365202000000700000
365202500000700000
365200000000700000
0.00
395000000000710000
395000000000720000
395000000000700000

83,574,150.00
100,000.00
83,674,150.00

Provided that a bank shall not use minority interests in the equity accounts of consolidated subsidiaries as an avenue for introducing into its capital structure
elements that might not otherwise qualify as Tier 1 capital or that would, in effect, result in an excessive reliance on preferred stock within Tier 1.
Provided that the conditions to offset under PAS 12 are met and that any excess of deferred tax liability over deferred tax assets (i.e., net deferred tax liability)
shall not be added to Tier 1 capital.
this shall include those relating to unconsolidated subsidiary RBs and VCCs for TBs, and RBs for Coop Banks (on solo basis) and unconsolidated non-financial
allied undertakings (on solo and consolidated bases)
the amount to be deducted from Tier 2 Capital shall be limited to its balance and any excess thereof shall be deducted from Tier 1 capital.

PART III.1 RISK-WEIGHTED ON-BALANCE SHEET ASSETS (in absolute amounts)
Item
Nature of Item
Account Code

A.
(1)

100,000.00

0% Risk Weight –
Cash on hand (including foreign currency notes and coins on hand
acceptable as international reserves)
Peso denominated claims on or portions of claims guaranteed by or
collateralized by peso-denominated securities issued by the Philippine
National Government and the BSP
(a) Due from BSP
(b) Financial Assets designed at fair value through profit or loss
(c) Available for sale financial assets
(d) Held-to-maturity financial assets
(e) Unquoted debt securities classified as loans
(f)
Loans and receivables

Net Carrying
Amount1/
(2)

105050000000000000

2,612,553.00

105150000500000000
115001000500000000
195201000500000000
195251000500000000
195301000500000000
195401020050000000

16,951,652.79

98,329,709.63

Risk-Weight
(in %) (2)

Risk-Weighted
Amount
(3) = (1) * (2)
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(g)

(3)

(4)

(5)
(6)
(7)
(8)
(9)
(10)
B.
(1)

(2)

(3)

(4)
(5)
(6)
(7)

(8)

(9)

(10)

(11)
C.
(1)

(2)

(3)
D.
(1)
E.
(1)

F.
(1)

(2)
G.
(1)

(2)

Loans and receivables arising from repurchase agreements,
certificates of assignment/participation with recourse, and
securities lending and borrowing transactions
(h) Others
Claims on or portions of claims guaranteed by or collateralized by
securities issued by central governments and central banks of foreign
countries with the highest credit quality
Claims on or portions of claims guaranteed by or collateralized by
securities issued by multilateral development banks with the highest credit
quality
Loans to the extent covered by hold-out on, or assignment of, deposits/
deposit substitutes maintained with the lending bank
Loans or acceptances under letters of credit (LCs) to the extent covered
by margin deposits
Peso-denominated special time deposit loans to the extent guaranteed by
Industrial Guarantee and Loan Fund (IGLF)
Peso-denominated real estate mortgage loans to the extent guaranteed
by the Home Guaranty Corporation (HGC)
Peso-denominated loans to the extent guaranteed by the Trade and
Investment Development Corporation of the Philippines (TIDCORP)
Sub-total [Sum of A (1) to A (9)]
20% Risk Weight –
Checks and other cash items (including foreign currency checks and other
cash items denominated in currencies acceptable as international
reserves)
Claims on or portions of claims guaranteed by or collateralized by
securities issued by local government units (LGUs) with the highest credit
quality
Claims on or portions of claims guaranteed by or collateralized by
securities issued by non-central government public sector entities of
foreign countries with the highest credit quality
Claims on or portions of claims guaranteed by Philippine Incorporated
banks/quasi-banks with the highest credit quality
Claims on or portions of claims guaranteed by foreign incorporated banks
with the highest credit quality
Interbank call loans
Claims on or portions of claims guaranteed by foreign incorporated private
enterprises, including claims on government corporations and MSME not
qualifying under highly diversified loan portfolio definition, with the highest
credit quality
Claims on or portion of claims guaranteed by foreign incorporated private
enterprises, including claims on government corporations with the highest
credit quality
Loans to small farmer and fisherfolk engaged in palay and/or food
production projects/activities to the extent guaranteed by the Agricultural
Guarantee Fund Pool (AGFP) subject to the conditions enumerated in
Circular No. 713 dated 14 February 2011
Loans to performing MSME loans to the extent guaranteed by a Credit
Surety Fund (CSF), Cooperative, subject to the conditions prescribed
under Appendix 63c of the MORB
Sub-total [Sum of B (1) to B (10)]
50% Risk Weight –
Loans to individuals for housing purpose, fully secured by first mortgage
on residential property that is or will be occupied by the borrower, which
are not classified as non-performing
Foreign currency denominated claims on or portions of claims guaranteed
by or collateralized by foreign currency denominated securities issued by
the Philippine National Government & the BSP.
Sub-total [Sum of C (1) to C (2)]
75% Risk Weight –
Qualified micro, small and medium enterprises (MSME) loan portfolio
100% Risk-Weight –
Non-performing loans to individuals for housing purpose, fully secured by
first mortgage on residential property that is or will be occupied by the
borrower
150% Risk Weight –
All non-performing loans (except non-performing loans to individuals for
housing purpose, fully secured by first mortgage on residential property
that is or will be occupied by the borrower), all non-performing sales
contract receivables, and all non-performing debt securities
Real and other properties acquired and non-current assets held for sale,
net of allowance for losses
100% Risk Weight –
Other Assets
(a)
Total Assets per Balance Sheet
(b)
General Loan Loss Provisions per Balance Sheet
(c)
Total Exposures excluding Other Assets [Sum of A(10), B(11),
C(3), D(1), F(1) and F(2)]
(d)
Sub-total [Sum of G(1)(a) and G(1)(b) minus G(1)(c)]
Deductions from Other Assets
(a)
Total outstanding unsecured credit accommodations, both direct
and indirect, to DOSRI, net of allowance for credit losses
[refer to Part II. Item A.2 (5)]]

195402000500000000
199000000000000000

108100500000000000

108101000000000000
140150507500600000
140150508000600000
140150508500600000
140150510500600000
140150509500600000
100000000000811100

117,893,915.42

0

0.00

140150520000600000
100000000000811200

0.00

20

140150004000100000

0.00

108104501500000000
100000000000811300

0.00

50

140180500000000000

0.00

75

140150004000000000

16,575,707.42

100

16,575,707.42

142001000000000000

4,037,481.59

150

6,056,222.39

195501201500000000

22,391,397.53

150

33,587,096.30

100000000000000000
175150000000000000

516,773,297.22
0.00

100050000000811000
195000500000811000

160,898,501.96
355,874,795.26

165500500000811000

0.00

105100000000000000

108101500000000000

108102000000000000
108102500000000000
108103000000000000
195401000500000000

108103500000000000

108104000000000000

140150519500600000

44

(b)

(3)
H.
1/

Total outstanding unsecured loans, other credit accommodations
and guarantees granted to subsidiaries and affiliates, net of
allowance for credit losses [refer to Part II. Item A.2 (6)]
(c) Deferred tax asset, net of deferred tax liability
[refer to Part II. Item A.2 (7)]
(d) Goodwill, net of allowance for losses [refer to Part II. Item A.2 (8)]
(e) Sinking fund for redemption of limited life redeemable preferred
stock with the replacement requirement upon redemption
[refer to Part II. Item B.2 (3)]
(f)
Sinking fund for redemption of limited life redeemable preferred
stock without the replacement requirement upon redemption
(limited to the balance of redeemable preferred stock after applying
to the cumulative discount factor) [refer to Part II. Item B.5 (2)]
(g) Investment in equity of unconsolidated subsidiary RBs and VCCs
for TBs, and RBs for Coop Banks, after deducting related goodwill,
if any (for solo basis) [refer to Part II. Item D (1)]
(h) Investments in other regulatory capital instruments of
unconsolidated RB’s for Coop Banks (for solo basis)
[refer to Part II. Item D (2)]
(i)
Investment in equity of subsidiary non-financial allied undertakings,
after deducting related goodwill, if any (for both solo and
consolidated bases) [refer to Part II. Item D (3)]
(j)
Significant minority investments (20%-50% of voting stock) in
banks and other financial allied undertakings (for both solo and
consolidated bases) [refer to Part II. Item D (4)]
(k) Reciprocal investments in equity/other regulatory capital
instruments of other banks/quasi-banks/enterprises
[refer to Part II. Item D (5)]
(l)
Net accumulated market gains/(losses) on available for sale debt
securities purchased
(m) Financial Assets Held for Trading
(n) Derivatives with Positive Fair Value Held for Hedging
(o) Total Deductions [Sum of G(2)(a) to G(2)(n)]
Net Other Assets [G(1)(d) minus G(2)(o)]
TOTAL RISK-WEIGHTED ON-BALANCE SHEET ASSETS
[Sum of A(10), B(11) C(3), D(1), E(1), F(1), F(2) and G(3)]

165501000000811000

0.00

165501500000811000
165502000000811000

0.00
0.00

165502500000811000

0.00

165503000000811000

0.00

165503500000811000

0.00

165504000000811000

0.00

165504500000811000

0.00

165505000000811000

0.00

165505500000811000

0.00

165506000000811000
165506500000811000
165507000000811000
165500000000811000
195000000000811000

0.00
355,874,795.26

100

355,874,795.26

100000000000811000

412,093,821.36

this shall refer to the outstanding balance of the account inclusive of unamortized discount/(premium) and accumulated market gains/(losses), and net of allowance
for credit losses, except that for available for sale debt securities, any accumulated market gains/(losses) shall be deducted/added back.

PART III.2 RISK-WEIGHTED ON-BALANCE SHEET ASSETS (in absolute amounts)

Item

Nature of Item

Account Code

Seq.
No.

Notional
Principal
Amount

(1)
A.

B.

Direct credit substitutes (e.g. general
guarantees
of
indebtedness
and
acceptance)
(1) Guarantees issued other than
shipside bonds/airway bills
(2) Financial standby letters of credit –
domestic (net of margin deposit)
(3) Financial standby letters of credit –
foreign (net of margin deposit)
(4) Sub-total [Sum of A (1) to A (3)]
(5) Risk-weighted amount [A(4) x
applicable risk weight]
Transaction-related contingencies (e.g.
performance bonds, bid bonds, warranties
and stand-by LCs related to particular
transactions)
(1) Performance Standby LCs –
domestic (net of margin deposit)
established as a guarantee that a
business
transaction
will
be
performed
(2) Performance Standby LCs – foreign
(net of margin deposit) established
as a guarantee that a business
transaction will be performed
(3) Other Commitments e.g. formal
standby facilities and credit lines
with maturity of more than one year
(4) Sub-total [Sum of B (1) to B (3)]
(5) Risk-weighted amount [B(4) x
applicable risk weight]

Credit
Conv.
Factor
(CCF)

(2)

Credit
Equivalent
Amount

(3) = (1) * (2)

405000000000000000

100%

0.00

410050500000000000

100%

0.00

100%

0.00
0.00

410051000000000000
403000000000000000

0.00

Distribution of Credit
Equivalent Amount According
to Risk Weights 1/
0%

20%

75%

(4)

(5)

(6)

100
%
(7)

Total

(Sum of
4 to 7)

0.00

403000000000812000

0.00

0.00

50%

410100500000000000
50%
410101000000000000
50%
425200000000000000
408000000000000000
408000000000812000

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00
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C.

D.

E.

F.
G.

1/

Trade-related contingencies arising from
movement of goods (e.g. documentary
credits collateralized by the underlying
shipments) and commitments with an
original maturity of up to one (1) year
(1) Trade related guarantees – shipside
bonds/airway bills
(2) Trade related guarantees – LCs
confirmed
(3) Sight LCs – domestic (net of margin
deposit)
(4) Sight LCs – foreign (net of margin
deposit)
(5) Usance LCs – domestic (net of
margin deposit)
(6) Usance LCs – foreign (net of margin
deposit)
(7) Deferred LCs – domestic (net of
margin deposit)
(8) Deferred LCs – foreign (net of
margin deposit)
(9) Revolving LCs – domestic (net of
margin deposit) arising from
movement of goods and/or services
(10) Revolving LCs – foreign (net of
margin deposit) arising from
movement of goods and/or services
(11) Other commitments with an original
maturity of up to 1 year
(12) Sub-total [Sum of C (1) to C (11)]
(13) Risk-weighted amount [C (12) x
applicable risk weight]
Other commitments which can be
unconditionally cancelled at any time by
the bank without prior notice
(1) Credit card lines
Items not involving credit risk
(1) Late deposits/payments received
(2) Inward bills for collection
(3) Outward bills for collection
(4) Traveler’s checks unsold
(5) Trust department accounts
(6) Items
held
for
safekeeping/
custodianship
(7) Items held as collaterals
(8) Deficiency claims receivable
(9) Others (please specify)
- _
(10) Sub-total [Sum of E (1) to E (9)]
Total Notional Principal Amount
[Sum of A(4), B(4), C(12), D(1) and E(10]
TOTAL
RISK-WEIGHTED
OFFBALANCE SHEET ASSETS
[Sum of A (5), B (5) and C (13)]

420100000000000000

20%

0.00

420050000000000000

20%

0.00

415050500000000000

20%

0.00

415051000000000000

20%

0.00

415100500000000000

20%

0.00

415101000000000000

20%

0.00

415150500000000000

20%

0.00

415151000000000000

20%

0.00

415200500000000000

20%

0.00

415201000000000000

20%

0.00

20%

0.00
0.00

425250000000000000
412000000000000000

0.00

412000000000812000

425150000000000000

0%

495050000000000000
495100000000000000
495150000000000000
495200000000000000
495250000000000000

0%
0%
0%
0%
0%

495260000000000000
495350000000000000
495400000000000000
495950000000000000

0%
0%
0%
0%
0%

0.00
1

495000000000000000

0.00

400000000000000000

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

400000000000812000

0.00

0.00

Assign the appropriate risk weight according to the obligor, or if relevant, the qualified guarantor or the nature of the collateral.

PART III.3 COUNTERPARTY RISK-WEIGHTED ASSETS (in absolute amounts)
Item

Nature of Item 1/

Account Code

Notional
Amount

(1)

Current
Credit
Exposure
(M-to-M
valuation,
if
possible)

Appropriate
Potent
ial
Future
CCF

Potential
Future
Credit
Exposure 2/

Credit
Equivalent
Amount3/

(2)

(3)

(4)=(1)*(3)

(5)=(2)+(4)

4/

Derivative Exposures
A.
Interest Rate Contracts
(1) With residual maturity of 1
year or less
1.a Interest Rate Forwards
1.b Interest Rate Swap
(2) With A residual maturity of
more than 1 year to 5 years
2.a Interest Rate Forwards
2.b Interest Rate Swap
(3) With a residual maturity of
more than 5 years
3.a Interest Rate Forwards
3.b Interest Rate Swap

110100000505310000
110100000515310000

0.00%
0.00%

0.00
0.00

0.00
0.00

110100000505320000
110100000515320000

0.50%
0.50%

0.00
0.00

0.00
0.00

110100000505330000
110100000515330000

1.50%
1.50%

0.00
0.00

0.00
0.00

Distribution of Credit
Equivalent Amount
According to Risk Weights
0%
20%
100%

(6)

(7)

(8)

Total

(Sum of
6 to 8)
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A.

(4) Sub-total
[Sum of 1.a to 3.b]
(5) Risk-weighted amount
[(4) x applicable risk weight]
Exchange Rate Contracts
(1) With a residual maturity of 1
year or less
1.a Forward Foreign Exchange
Contracts
1.b Currency Swap
(2) With a residual maturity of
more than 1 year to 5 years
2.a Forward Foreign Exchange
Contracts
2.b Currency Swap
(3) With a residual maturity of
more than 5 years
3.a Forward Foreign Exchange
Contracts
3.b Currency Swap
(4) Sub-total
[Sum of 1.a to 3.b]
(5) Risk-weighted amount
[(4) x applicable risk weight]
Total
[Sum of A (4) and B (4)]
TOTAL
COUNTERPARTY
RISK-WEIGHTED ASSETS
[Sum of A (5) and B (5)]

B.

C.
D.

1/

2/

3/

4/

110100000500000000

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

110100000500813000

110100001005310000
110100001025310000

1.00%
1.00%

110100001005320000
110100001025320000

5.00%
5.00%

110100001005330000
110100001025330000
110100001000000000

0.00

0.00
0.00

0.00
0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

7.50%

0.00

0.00

7.50%

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

110100001000813000
110100000000000000

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00
0.00

110100000000813000

provide additional line items, where necessary. (Refer to Part III.4 of the CAR Reporting Template of U/KBs and their subsidiary banks and quasi-banks under
Circular No. 574)
no potential future credit exposure shall be calculated for single currency floating/floating interest rate swaps; i.e. the credit exposure on these contracts would
be evaluated solely on the basis of their mark-to-market value.
the credit equivalent amount shall be assigned the appropriate risk weight according to the obligor, or if relevant, the qualified guarantor or the nature of
collateral.
this shall exclude instruments which are traded on exchange where they are subject to daily receipt and payment of cash variation margin and exchange rate
contracts with original maturity of 14 calendar days or less.

PART IV. OPERATIONAL RISK-WEIGHTED ASSETS (in absolute amounts)
Item

Nature of Item

Account Code

Gross Income
Year 3

A. Net Interest Income
A.1
Interest Income
A.2
Interest Expense
A.3
Sub-total (A.1 minus A.2)
B. Other non-interest Income
B.1
Dividend Income
B.2
Fees and Commissions Income
B.3
Net Gain/Loss on Financial Assets and Liabilities Held
for Trading
B.4
Net Gain/Loss on Financial Assets and Liabilities
Designated at “Fair Value through Profit or Loss
B.5
Net Profit/Loss on Foreign Exchange
B.6
Net Gain/Loss on Fair Value Adjustment in Hedge
Accounting
B.7
Other Income
B.8
Sub-total (Sum of B.1 to B.7)
C. Gross Income (Sum of A.3 and B.8)
D. Capital Charge
[C (average) multiply by Capital Charge Factor of 12%]
E. Adjusted Capital Charge (D multiply by 125%)
F. TOTAL OPERATIONAL RISK-WEIGHTED ASSETS
(E multiply by 10)
1/

505050000000000000

Year 2

Average1/

Last Year

60510000000000000
50500000000000000

12,679,118.77
1,253,301.49
11,425,817.28

17,215,497.57
1,709,674.86
15,505,822.71

30,963,248.24
1,912,081.93
29,051,166.31

51005000000000000
51010000000000000

796,822.24

6,864,025.56

6,460,810.46

520,609.72
1,317,431.96
12,743,249.24

6,178,671.86
13,042,697.42
28,548,520.13

0.00
6,460,810.46
35,511,976.77

51015000000000000
51020000000000000
51025000000000000
51035000000000000
51045000000000000
51000000000000000
50000000000000000

25,601,248.71

99000000000830000
99600000000830000

3,072,149.85
3,840,187.31

19500000000830000

38,401,873.07

when calculating the average, include only the positive annual gross income; hence, figures for any year in which annual gross income is negative or zero
should be excluded from both the numerator and denominator.

PART V. MARKET RISK-WEIGHTED ASSETS (in absolute amounts)
Item
A.
A.1
A.2
A.3
A.4
A.5
B.
C.
1/

Nature of Item
Using Standard Approach
Interest Rate Exposures
Equity Exposures
Foreign Exchange Exposures
Options
Sub-total (Sum of A.1 to A.4)
Using Internal Models Approach
TOTAL MARKET RISK-WEIGHTED ASSETS1/ (Sum of A.5 and B)

Account Code
10000000000821100
10000000000821200
10000000000821300
10000000000821400
10000000000821000
10000000000822000
10000000000820000

Amount
0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00

A.5 = 0, for banks that calculate capital charge for all its risk exposures, covering both general market and specific risks, using the internal models approach. If
computation of specific risk charge is not yet incorporated in the model, report in items A.1 and A.2 above the specific risk charge only. B = 0, for banks that
calculate capital charge for all its risk exposures using the standardized approach.

